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FfE - Ms Lam.

AN R A

fif : Mr Kan , I represent China State. I will be asking
you a few questions in English.

TR BCE IR - - SRR PR L B 2R K . . .

% RIEFVESE AR P RES - (BEEEA W EE K -

L ¢ AR ARG SR AL . . .

o

AR - TR -

LR RA AR (E B 5 > ARk B - A BB > 7T O RTaE et -

[

Mr Kan, we know that you are very, very familiar with
the form WWO46, and we know, under part 1, that is to
be filled in by the licensed plumber. There 1is an
annex that shows details of all the pipes and fittings
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intended to be installed; right?

(A g

:[[Eo

I would like to ask, in your experience, as a matter

of trade practice, is it common for plumbing materials
eventually used on site to be different to those listed
in the original annex that was submitted under part
17

PR EREE o UREE(E TSRS o AR submit MR ER > BEIE K

At A > TREN (K LR B E B E R & - - BB R 0 Rt AL
WEE > HE K UL LIS & (A ] — iy nE S R R B G b o IR R AR R
e o FRFEE EE WS - (E S EREEIE - 7RED 5 Z R s e - -
BT {0 2 M i At B MR WP OEE > M B2 TT — {18 S HI) P (5 IR TR R A W ] JL

b

Somy questionis, if for one reason or another, a change
of materials was required, whether because of the works

or whatever, then what would be the procedure?

D RNER R B SR REE o U ki 2006 A o OE R HRF ik 5 VS {18 E A

— = 1117 5% M {1 5% 9 {5 Bt o {1 2 PR )2 - (B R 0 4 25 B > T e
fik—-HJEMH R main pipe KW} size (hEF] 600 Z2KEK - &
e sk R Ry (il - - TAE (I THAAE =M 2 (it = > s award B
{E contract Z{&MEEE - UL submit WYFTARIYIRIS A A - #it
EL1&  WIRE AL Form WWO4 6 S /K H5& K25 % » W (It e H g
g - P LG 4R S A supplier BLETHRE o EARTE(EZTRE - HBEE LR A
W 4F Z 1% e ik B o 1) 1) e I 18] St 18 (% m] DU ST FRI S RS ~ &
PRIMEEERF R > (B supplier g7 FcBE TR - WEE AR 22 i 48 AT U
My e

- Yes.

D Tt T — (R - WRUR (B T - R R - - i

Z A% T[] (3 FE B (s e B &Y = B S it A T It £ = A = & o IR A
FANEE . TIE > RGREE - FESLE -

3By Wi {18 {3 i P (A B 5 BB B 7T RE D LB R A 1 - Fomh B 20K fH
FEr I ER I EARFE R > LIRS GURKER > HEURKER A
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Just pausing there; when you say has been "approved
by the WSD", do you mean it is one of the items that
is already on the list of approved materials which you
can find on the WSD's website?

Pk
:All right, thank you, Sir, please continue.

PR o MH B AT e I 5 A AT P R YRR ] o P g 7 2

nff ft JE Py i 5 48 2 AH BE MR R lr B R o [FIEEE (R 0 B HHE
fulfill Wi{#&H update B BS Standard » FMtFEE submit HFEF

[FSE SRR - FEMAFEA -

Emt A 2 R B - IR EL &5 order WE[ERF > BLE® amend
MH5R 46 B annex > BLEEF NIRRT Z W IN—EYR > BLE FH H9RUE
(& st o HF e 8 kK% 5 practice BEEE - FBHE LY
i RYBHIEHE S+ H it e > DR &Es -

TR BRASE - AEREARFEY > REGEE 2
B EARE R - HEBE R Aeh - - BRBUT R R e (E E f1 X

B 7 DN R B AR 2K > 03 (A 00 (18 [ B0 o B (A EE B 28— 2 FK
submit We A 5 B EE [ H a0 B A = e £ > i submit B
BT - BIE[AR &K submit 5€ B T > J& UL order WEHFH - TE?)ET
REfR —(E LB 1ine > (EUNERIERE SR (E & &Y IBELIERI &5 3 >
A & AP BN ZHE C -

: So the responsibility for submitting an updated annex

would fall on the licensed plumber; is that correct?

PR
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As a matter of practice, after you submit the revised
annex, what happens next? Would you then expect

either a verbal or written approval from the WSD?

DR P ﬁD%U{%ﬁ?ﬁLW,mF‘aﬁﬁﬂé SEEPIL o B ARG (R AL

Fi W7t 8 B etk [ = TR o Pt By e ER A L (A AT
BE size > HHEJE#?/f%ﬁ B 150 2K o

BRI E AT a6 B IR > wisiE(REE] 400 2REE (R 600 £
oK I Wi Y B e e 5 R FH R UGt - iR B B R TT - - — R TT I R WA
sIkE o BT DU Rt ip s LR ] o IRt & S B RETRE o HEEE
fit > FBEFLET -

DRl By BE AR PRI & 5T R 2 IR Ry Bt 2 45 (425 i A 52 W IR {1 470 1) (4
KGR E 1ist Z=iH - BRATRBPRAE(E 1ist EmEHLEER - KB FEHR
TEMEEZE reject FTAUEAE -

:In other words, if it is already on the WSD's approved

list of materials, you would expect WSD to have no

problems with the proposed change; is that correct?

:Ug@’ﬂ%o

: Sorry, my question before was: would you then expect

the WSD to formally inform you, whether in writing or
orally, that, yes, your proposed change of material

is fine?

POKES B o AU B H e i I RS ST R - (R E G R R

TRt o PR R TR A B B B 1% 5 - - e (R Wt 58 LS MRS s - Emls
M5 latest update Wi{y annex BTl & -

: Thank you very much.

Mr Li - BEME{E Mr Li -

R B ETE -
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COMMISSION OF INQUIRY INTO EXCESS LEAD FOUND IN DRINKING
WATER APPOINTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 2 OF THE COMMISSION
OF INQUIRY
ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 86) ON 13 AUGUST 2015
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF WONG CHUNG LEUNG

I, WONG Chung Leung, Deputy Director of Water Supplies
of 48th Floor, Immigration Tower, 7 Gloucester Road, Wan

Chai, Hong Kong, do say as follows:-

1. I am the Deputy Director of Water Supplies and have
held this position since 8 April 2015. My duties include,
amongst other things, deputising the Director of Water
Supplies in the management and operations of Water
Supplies Department (“"WSD”) and general functions as

delegated from time to time by the Director.

2. I make this Witness Statement pursuant to the
request of the Commission of Inquiry into Excess Lead Found
in Drinking Water (“the Commission”), conveyed in a letter
from Messrs. Lo & Lo to the Department of Justice dated
12 October 2015 (“the 12 October Letter”). Save where
otherwise appears, the facts deposed hereto are within
my personal knowledge or are derived from office files
and records and sources to which I have access and are
true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.
Save as otherwise specified, this Statement adopts the
same abbreviations and nomenclature as in the 12 October
Letter.

3. This Witness Statement addresses paragraph il (in
so far as paragraph s 51 and 52 of the August Statement
are concerned) and paragraph ii of the 12 October Letter:-

“il. a Statement on Water Supply System in Hong
Kong and Monitoring and Control of Water
Quality has been submitted to the Commission
on 20 August 2015 (the “August Statement”) .
The Director should provide a signed witness
statement to cover the matters set out in the
August Statement. If hewishes toelaborate,
supplement and provide additional
information on the areas and topics covered
by the August Statement, he should do so in
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the witness statement

ii. Deputy Director of Water Supplies/Chairman of
the WSD Task Force

1. the WSD Task Force has announced its
preliminary findings on 25 September 2015
("TF Preliminary Findings”) .The Deputy
Director, being the Chairman of the Task Force,
should provide a signed witness statement to
adduce the TF Preliminary Findings as
evidence, if he wishes to elaborate,
supplement and provide additional
information on the areas and topics covered
by TF Preliminary Findings, he should do so

in the witness statement;

2. according to the official Press Release
issued by the Task Force on 25 September 2015,
the Task Force “aims to issue the final report
in October”. Please include and adduce the
Final Report by means of the witness statement
(if already published by the deadline
stipulated below [i.e. 26 October 2015])”

4. The Development Bureau has on 15 July 2015
commissioned the WSD Task Force on Investigation of
Excessive Lead Content in Drinking Water (“WSD Task Force”)
comprising government officials, and outside academics
and experts to, inter alia, ascertain the causes of the
recent incidents leading to presence of lead in water drawn
by households and recommend measures to prevent
recurrence of similar incidents in future. I was
appointed as the Chairman of the WSD Task Force and hence,
I have direct knowledge to give evidence in relation to
the matters set out in paragraphs 51 and 52 of Chapter
5 of the August Statement. I am duly authorized by the
Director to cover in this Statement paragraph il of the
12 October Letter (in so far as the said paragraphs 51
and 52 are concerned).
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5. I have read the said paragraphs 51 and 52 of the
August Statement and Annex II thereto and hereby confirm
that the contents thereof are true to the best of my

knowledge, information and belief.

6. As requested under paragraph ii of the 12 October
Letter, there is now produced and shown to me marked as
“Annex I” a printed copy of TF Preliminary Findings (in
powerpoint format) announced on 25 September 2015 [CoI
Ref: Bundle CS Item 71].

7. As stated in the TF Preliminary Findings, :-
(a) the Task Force concluded, inter alia, that:-
(1) Leaded solder joints installed in the

inside service were the source of excess
lead in drinking water in Kai Ching

Estate and Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2.

(i1i) Copper alloy fittings also leached lead
but did not result in 2 excess lead in

drinking water.

(b) in order to prevent recurrence of similar
incidents in future, the Task Force

recommended: -

(i) an enhanced system for site inspection
and testing during construction of

plumbing works: -

- Qualified persons (e.g. Building
Services Engineer/Building Services
Inspector) to carry out adequate
field dinspection on the plumbing

works;

- Conduct systematic non-destructive
test to soldering Jjoints during

construction (e.g. quick lead test or
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x-ray forensic spectrometer);

- Arrange random sampling and testing
0of soldering materials delivered to

site;

- Stipulate the testing of four
additional heavy metals (lead,
chromium, cadmium and nickel) for
water samples and testing of solder
joints samples 1in newly completed
inside service by Authorized Person

and Licensed Plumber.

(1i1i) the Water Authority to explore the use
of pipe materials free from the risk of
misuse of leaded joints in the plumbing
works, e.g. use of silver brazing or
compression joint for copper pipes or

use of stainless steel pipes.

(iii) the Housing Authority to consider
requiring the adoption of central

procurement for soldering materials.

(iv) the Water Authority to consider

reviewing relevant legislations.

8. It is anticipated that the Report of the WSD Task
Force will be ready by end of October 2015 and upon the
issuance thereof, I will submit a copy of the said Report
to the Commission pursuant to paragraph ii 2 of the 12
October Letter.

9. The WSD Task Force’s work involves highly technical
investigation (including isotopic analysis). If details
are required, these are best explained by experts in the
relevant areas (both being members of the WSD Task Force),
namely, Dr. CHAN Hon-fai, Chairman of Advisory Committee

on Water Resources and Quality of Water Supplies, in
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respect of the investigation (except isotopic analysis),
and Mr. CHAN Kin-man, Chief Waterworks Chemist, in respect
of the isotopic analysis. WSD is prepared to invite the
said experts to provide statements to the 3 Commission

if the Commission so requires.

10. I confirm the contents of this Witness Statement
to be true to the best of my knowledge, information and
belief.

] : Mr Wong, I will now move to --FRESIRSFIN—{oMEEE A LI{E -
W2ND WITNESS STATEMENT OF WONG CHUNG LEUNG” » Twill skip

the formal part. Paragraph 3.

3. I am the same person who made the Witness Statement
of WONG CHUNG LEUNG dated 26 October 2015 (“My First
Statement”) . I make this 2nd Witness Statement pursuant
to the request of the Commission of Inquiry into Excess
Lead Found in Drinking Water (“the Commission”), conveyed
in a letter from Messrs. Lo & Lo to the Department of
Justice dated 12 October 2015 (“the 12 October Letter”) .

4. Save where otherwise appears, the facts deposed
hereto are within my personal knowledge or are derived
from office files and records and sources to which I have
access and are true to the Dbest of my knowledge,
information and belief. Unless otherwise specified,
this 2nd Statement adopts the same abbreviations and

nomenclature as in the 12 October Letter.

5. This Witness Statement addresses paragraph ii(2)
of the 12 October Letter:-

A\Y

ii. DeputyDirector of Water Supplies/Chairmanof
the WSD Task Force
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2. according to the official Press Release
issued by the Task Force on 25 September 2015,
the Task Force “aims to issue the final report
in October”. Please include and adduce the
Final Report by means of the witness
statement "

6. A copy of the Preliminary Findings of the WSD Task

Force on Investigation of Excessive Lead Content 1in

Drinking Water was exhibited as Annex I to my First

Statement dated 26 October 2015. After the announcement

of the Preliminary Findings and in the course of preparing

the final Report (the “Report”), further testing and
verification of information was conducted by the WSD Task

Force. Together with the List of pipes and fittings and

other materials dismantled for Task Force including

photos (at CoI Bundle: CS/72/4192-4224), further testing
and verification results have been consolidated and
subsumed into the Report of the WSD Task Force. The Report
of the WSD Task Force (in English) together with a Chinese

Summary thereof were submitted to Secretary for

Development on 31 October 2015.I have read the documents

at CoI Bundle: Al /19/650-801 and A1/20/802-808 and

confirm that the same are the Report and Chinese Summary

respectively.

7. The WSD Task Force dismantled over one hundred of
components from three water supply chains in Hong Ching
House and Yuet Ching House of Kai Ching Estate and Luen
Yat House of Kwail Luen Estate Phase 2, where excess lead
in drinking water were found and conducted leaching tests,
elemental analyses of various components, mathematical
modeling and lead isotopic analysis and made comparison
with the actual situation in a control supply chain at
Hung Hei House at Hung Fuk Estate in Yuen Long where lead
contents in its drinking water samples were well below
World Health Organisation Provisional Guideline Value of
10ug/L.

8. Further details of these tests, examination and the

-138-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKEHEEHAEZR

Mep

201642 H19H

results thereof, have been set out in the Report.

9. Further, as stated in the Report, :-

I. the Task Force concluded, inter alia, that:-

(a) Leaded solder joints were the cause of

excess lead in drinking water; and

(b) Copper alloy fittings also leached lead
but did not result 1in excess lead 1in

drinking water.

IT. in order to prevent recurrence of similar
incidents in future, the Task Force has the

following recommendations: -

(a) Prevention of the use of leaded solder

material and non-conforming pipe
fittings:
(1) To enhance site inspection and

testing system for plumbing works

* Qualified persons (e.g. Building
Services Engineers or Building
Services 1Inspectors) should be
engaged to carry out adequate and

regular field inspection.

e Systematic non-destructive tests
of solder pipe Jjoints should be
conducted during construction
(e.g. conducting guick lead test or
using portable x-ray fluorescence

analyser/spectrometer) .

e Random sampling and testing of
materials delivered to site should
be carried out before they are used
in the works for better quality
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control of the materials.

(1i) Testing of four additional heavy
metals (lead, chromium, cadmium and
nickel) should be stipulated for
drinking water samples and testing
of the lead content in solder pipe
joints 1in newly installed inside

service.

(b) Water Authority (“WA”) should explore the
use of pipe materials free from the risk
of misuse of leaded solder Jjoints in

plumbing works.

(c) Housing Authority should consider
requiring the adoption of central
procurement for solder material (and other
essential components of the plumbing works

as appropriate) by the main contractor.

(d) WA should consider reviewing relevant
legislation to effect the above
recommendations. The WA should also
review the WWO and WWR to see if improvement
is necessary to further strengthen its
regulatory regime on the construction of

inside service.

10. As mentioned in the Report, WSD has separately
commissioned outside consultants to conduct studies on
local good practices in supervision of plumbing works in
building projects and overseas regulations and practices
relating to the management and control of inside plumbing
services. Copies of the “Study on Good Practice to Ensure
Completion of the Plumbing Works involving Copper Pipes
and Soldering Pipe Joints in Compliance with the
Requirements of Water Authority as well as Contractual
Arrangements” (“Study (i)”) dated 29 October 2015
prepared by AECOM Asia Company Limited and “Benchmarking
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Study of Overseas Regulations and Practices on Management
and Control of Inside Plumbing Services” (“Study (ii)"”)
dated 30 October 2015 prepared by Black & Veatch Hong Kong
Limited have been submitted to the Commission on 18
November 2015 (see CoI Bundle: C19.6/ 142/ 14212 - 14397
and CoI Bundle: C19.6/143/ 14398 - 14511 respectively).

11. The two studies involved highly technical
information. If details are required, these are best
explained by experts in the relevant studies, namely, Mr
Roy CHAN, Principal Engineer of AECOM Asia Company Limited
in respect of the above Study (i) and Mr Justin SEARLE,
Senior Project Manager of Black & Veatch Hong Kong Limited
in respect of the above Study (ii). If the Commission so
wishes, WSD is prepared to invite Mr Roy CHAN and Mr Justin
SEARLE to assist the Commission by answering queries which

the Commission and/or its expert(s) may have.

12. I confirm the contents of this 27d Witness Statement
to be true to the best of my knowledge, information and
belief.

[ 0 oA IREREGHEIRE = e A gt - s 2 BB -

2. I am the same person who made the 1st and 2nd Witness
Statements of WONG Chung Leung dated 26 October 2015 and
20 November 2015 respectively. I am duly authorised by
the Director to make this 3r? statement, to provide
responses of WSD to the report of the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers (“HKIE”) entitled “HKIE Report - Study of
Lead in Drinking Water in Public Housing Estate” dated
2 November 2015 (“the Report”).

3. The Report was prepared by the Task Force of the

HKIE (“HKIE/TF”) and was submitted to the Commission on

9 November 2015 [Ul/3]. HKIE also sent a copy of the
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Report to WSD via a letter dated 9 November 2015.

4. WSD has studied the Report and notes that the
HKIE/TF endorsed WSD’s effort in significant respects
such as that “the water quality on the distribution side
has been kept at a world class standard” (para 63 of the
Report) .

5. At the same time, it is noted that some other parts
of the Report might have been based on misunderstandings
in respect of WSD’s practices and policies. There are
also matters noted in the Report on which WSD has taken

proactive actions to address.

6. The various matters which require clarification or
updates are set out below. For ease of reference, this
statement adopts the same sequence and section headings

as used in the Report.

IITI. THE STUDY

PART I Ordinance and Regulations

Form WWO 46 (6/2012a)

New Installation (paras 22-29 of the Report)

7. In this section, the HKIE/TF pointed out the
following issues with respect to Form WWO46 (6/2012a) :-

(a) For new building project installations, the
appointed Authorised Person (“AP") was
required to signify his approval or endorsement
by signing Parts I and IV (para 22 of the
Report) ;

(b) The Licensed Plumber (“LP”) was not obliged to
turn over copies of all parts of Form WWO 46
together with relevant drawings to the AP and
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the applicant (para 27 of the Report);

(c) From Part IV itself, it appeared the only role
of the AP was to ascertain the position of meter
installations and nothing else on completion
whilst the AP had to endorse the installation
details contained in Part I (para 28 of the

Report); and

(d) By virtue of Part I, there was no provision that
AP would be subsequently, let alone timely,
informed of any communications between WSD and
LP including those necessitating changes of the
installation albeit AP was 2 one of the parties
jointly and severally responsible for the
technical submission of the project (para 29
of the Report).

8. WSD is of the view that there may be
misunderstanding by HKIE/TF which led to the above
observations. 1In fact, the AP shouldbe actively involved

in the plumbing works.

9. During the submission process of Form WWO46 , the
AP is required to sign Part I, certifying that the pipes
and fittings intended to be installed (including those
listed on the Annex to the Form and those not listed) are
as prescribed by the Waterworks Regulations (“WWR”). 1In
addition, after completion of the plumbing works, the AP
is required to confirm in Form WWO132 that the pipes and
fittings used in the project are in full compliance with
waterworks standards and requirements. In doing so, the
AP needs to satisfy himself of the facts in support of
the relevant certifications. As such, one would
reasonably expect the AP to confirm with the LP and other
relevant stakeholders (e.g. the main contractor or
plumbing sub-contractor) on whether there are further
documents or developments relating to the factual basis
of the matters which the AP is to certify. One would also
reasonably expect the LP and other relevant stakeholders
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(all of whom are directly or indirectly engaged by the
developer to construct the inside service for the
developer’s premises) to readily provide the AP with
relevant information to enable the AP to make the relevant
certifications. In light of the above, it is reasonable
to expect that there should be adequate communication
between the AP and the LP and other relevant stakeholders
including the provision of relevant drawings and changes

of the pipes and fittings installed.

10. Similarly, the AP may obtain information from the
LP and/or the contractors regarding any subsequent
changes to materials used at the plumbing installation
(including those listed under Annex of WWO046).It is
reasonable to expect that the LP and/or the contractors
would provide such information to the AP in order to

facilitate the process.

11. In any event, after the discovery of excess lead
in drinking water, WSD has issued an updated Form WWO46
in October 2015, prior to the issue of the Report in
November 2015, to enhance control measures for pipes and
fittings to be installed in plumbing works. The updated
form has been uploaded on WSD’ s webpage on 19 October 2015:

http://www.wsd.gov.hk/filemanagerlen/share/pdf/
wwo4 be.pdf

(See also WSD Circular Letter No. 7/2015 in WSD’s webpage
http://www.wsd.gov.hk/filemanager/article/en/upload/3
75/cir0715.pdf.)

12. Under the current arrangement, all relevant parts
of Form WWO46 will be forwarded by the Water Authority
(“WA”) to the LP, AP and consumer/agent/applicant for new
building projects. The LP, AP and
consumer/agent/applicant should update and sign Form
WWO46 if there is any change of the previously approved

pipes and fittings to be used in the installation.
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Alteration & Minor Repairs (paras 30 -40 of the Report)

13. In this section, the HKIE/TF presumed that, for each
and every intended plumbing work, applications had to be
made to WA for consideration as to whether it is of a minor
nature that “a person other than a LP” could carry out,
and Form WWO46 Part I was the relevant application form
(para 33 of the Report). The HKIE/TF remarked that they
could not find clear indication of what would constitute

as aminor work nature in Form WWO46. (para 31 of the Report)

14. To start with, there is no need to submit an
application form (including Form WWO46) to the WA for
consideration as to whether the intended work is of a minor

nature.

15. Further, there 1s an explanation as to what
constitute alterations or repairs of a minor nature in
Section 4.2 of the “Handbook on Plumbing Installation for
Buildings” (“the Handbook”) published by WSD. The
Handbook, published since May 2001 is available on WSD’s

website:

http://www.wsd.gov.hk/en/plumbing and engineeri
ng/installation requirements/handbook on plumbi

ng installation/index.html

lo. As explained in the Handbook, generally, works of
a minor nature are works which can be completed without
the involvement of specialised trade skill, which
requires specific knowledge and ability acquired through
designated training for carrying out the works, and those
which do not change the general arrangement of the plumbing
installation already approved by the WA, or affect the
flow conditions of the plumbing system thus causing
possible supply problems. Minor alterations and repairs
to inside services without dismantling and reinstallation
of the water meter within domestic premises may be exempted

as follows:
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(1) Replacement of defective piping, taps,
stopcocks, gate valves, ball valves and work

of a similar nature;

(1i) Repairs to leakingpipesor fittings andminor

alterations to pipework; and

(1ii) Extensions within the same premises to supply
a single additional tap, fitting or appliance,
provided that the fitting or appliance does
not require the installation of a storage
tank.

17. Apart from the above information available in the
Handbook, the consumer/agent may seek advice from WA if

required.
Annex to Form WWO 46 (paras 41-51 of the Report)
18. In this section, the HKIE/TF stated that:-

(a) Only three of those British Standards (“BS”)
specified for product compliance in Note 7 (1)
of the Annex to Form WWO46 were still valid
and the rest were outdated. (para 42 of the
Report)

(b) Thee were no dedicated personnel or an
engineering section to monitor the plumbing
installations even though this should be a
part of WSD’s responsibility. (para 46 of the
Report)

19. In considering whether to replace a relevant BS in
Note 7(i) of Annex to Form WWO46 with its updated version,
WA has been adopting a practical approach in order to
strike a proper balance between strict compliance with
the latest BS and industry adaptability. WSD considered
it unnecessary to have the BS immediately replaced every
time there was a change in the BS. In so doing, WA had
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taken into account the ©potential impact to the
construction industry if pipes and fittings can no longer
be used just for minor updates to the BS. In the past 20
years, the changes in the BS in respect of material
composition of pipes and fittings listed under Note 7 (1)

of Annex to WWO46 have been minor in nature.

20. In any event, the list of BS specified for product
compliance has been removed from the updated Form WWO46
issued in October 2015. Further, Note 8 of the updated
Form WWO46 advises that “all pipes and fittings including
any materials intended to be used for the construction,
installation, alteration or removal of the Approved
Plumbing Works covered by this Form shall comply with the
relevant BS listed out on WSD’s website”. The updated
list of BS adopted by WSD can be accessed via-

http:1lwww.wsd.gov.hk/filemanager/en/content 10
86/standards for pipes and fittings.pdf

21. In respect of paragraph 18 (b) above, the Technical
Support Unit (TSU) of the Customer Services Branch is the
designated unit in WSD to follow the updating of BS and
the adoption of updated BS in Hong Kong for many years
prior to the discovery of excess lead in drinking water
incident. This unit comprises professional engineers
equipped with the necessary expertise for monitoring the

BS for plumbing installations.
Licensed Plumber (paras 52 - 55 of the Report)

22. HKIE/TF observed that “[als from October 1992, only
[licences for] Grade I class [LP] would be issued with
Grade II to be faded out” (para 52 of the Report), and
remarked that it “had no evidence” to ascertain the reason
behind (para 53 of the Report).

23. It is correct that there are two grades of LPs under
the WWR - Grade I and Grade ITI. Grade I licences are
essentially for plumbing works of any type including
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construction, i1installation, maintenance, alteration,
repair or removal of a fire service or inside service.
Grade II licences are much narrower in scope, and only
cover maintenance and repair of a fire service or inside
service, and installation, maintenance, repair or removal
of water appliances. Before October 1992, examinations
for qualifying as Grade I or Grade II LPs were administered
by WSD. The said examination system was found to be
unsatisfactory as the passing rate was low, rendering the

supply of LPs small and insufficient. A reform took place,
upon which the Vocational Training Council (“VTC”) took
over the assessment of LPs. Under the reformed system

which came into operation since October 1992, VTC also
provides training prior to assessment. The training by
VTC is of such nature and standard as to qualify persons
as Grade I LPs. As such, since October 1992, persons who
aspire to be LPs and have completed training by VTC would
apply to qualify as Grade I LPs. Grade II LPs are
therefore gradually faded out. The fading out of Grade
IT LPs is a natural consequence of the enhancement in
training available for qualifying as LPs, rather than for
any of the reasons speculated by HKIE/TF at para 53 of
the Report.

24 . Further, the HKIE/TF opined that “the arrangement
for LP to be solely responsible for all scopes of work

is no longer adequate” (para 55 of the Report).

25. Indeed, with the growing complexity and scale of
inside services in building developments in Hong Kong,
the WA has long recognised that reliance on LPs solely

to ensure quality of inside service is inadeqguate.

26. In view of this and in addition to the LP system,
the WA has, as early as 1982, put in place a system that
involves APs, who are qualified professionals in the
construction process with the overall responsibility of
the technical management of the building development, to
take up the role of certifying compliance with the WWR

and waterworks standards and requirements in respect of
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the pipe and fittings used. As a result, since 1987, APs
have been required by the WA to certify that the pipes
and fittings intended to be installed, including those
listed on the Annex to Form WWO46 and those not listed,
are as prescribed by WWR. APs are also required to confirm
in the Form WWO132 that the pipes and fittings used in
the project are in full compliance with waterworks
standards and requirements upon completion of the
plumbing works, when applying for issuance of
“Certificate regarding water supply connection”. The
certifications by AP act as another layer of assurance
on top of the LP scheme to minimise the 1risk of
non-compliant pipes and fittings being used in inside

services.

27. In addition, it is not correct that LPs are “solely
responsible for all scopes of work”, as other stakeholders
including developers, APs and other relevant stakeholders
(e.g. the main contractor or plumbing sub-contractor)
each play an important part in ensuring that the plumbing
system 1is constructed in accordance with statutory

requirements.
WSD Supervision on LP (paras 56-61 of the Report)

28. It is noted from para 57 of the Report that the
HKIE/TF formed an impression from “the trade” that WSD
was not “vigorous” in inspecting plumbing installations
or inside service as compared to the attention given to
meter locations. HKIE/TF further opined that WSD had no
independent building services section to cover, inter
alia, the demanding workload of inspecting plumbing
installations in new buildings and if indeed the case,
this deficiency had to be addressed (para 60 of the

Report) .
29. WSD does not agree with HKIE/TF'’s impression that
WSD is not “vigorous” in inspecting plumbing

installations and its opinion that the 1lack of an
independent building services section within WSD to
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inspect plumbing installations in new buildings 1is a
“deficiency”. As elaborated Dbelow, WA adopts a
risk-based approach in conducting inspection of plumbing
installations, noting that there is already a
multi-layered control mechanism over the construction of
inside services involving many stakeholders apart from
WA, including APs, main contractors, plumbing
subcontractors and LPs. WA has to consider the

appropriate and effective use of public resources.

30. Under the existing control mechanism, the LPs are
responsible for the plumbing works as required by WWO.
In addition, main contractors are responsible for
providing continuous supervision of the works whereas the
APs would conduct periodic inspection of the works by
employing full-time resident personnel on site.
Furthermore, LPs and APs are required to certify that the
pipes and fittings comply with WWR and waterworks
standards and requirements in Forms WWO46 and WWO132.

31. Within the above control mechanism involving
multiple stakeholders, WA’s role is regulatory and its
inspection of plumbing installations is generally guided
by a risk-based approach. The Customer Services Division
of WSD is responsible for the inspection of the finished
plumbing works. 1Its staff members possess the necessary
knowledge, experience and expertise to carry out the
inspection, and are overseen and supported by
professional engineers. In conducting such inspection,
more attention is paid to the communal parts of the inside
service which have a greater impact on the proper
functioning of the entire plumbing system, and therefore
affect a wider section of the occupants, while other items
are checked on random basis as they are considered to be
of lower risk in terms of proper functioning of the
plumbing system as a whole. 1In respect of water meters,
their correctness is checked to avoid future disputes over
water charges. Such inspection of the finished plumbing
works cannot be taken as substitution of the on-site
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supervision and inspections by other stakeholders during

the construction process as mentioned above.

32. WA considers that the current inspection of the
finished plumbing works is pitched at the right level
taking into account the multi-layered control mechanism.
To have an independent building service section within
WSD on top of the existing control mechanism is not an
effective way of administering public resources.
Setting up an independent building service section will
mean deploying public resources to duplicate the efforts
of wvarious stakeholders. This independent building
service section of WSD will have to be substantial in size
given that WA’s regulatory remit is territory wide. The

considerable resource implication is hardly justified.

33. It should be noted that the current arrangement is
in 1line with the role of a regulator as identified by the
Construction Industry Review Committee Report issued in
2001 that --

‘...Glven resource constraints, all regulators
face the same challenge of how best to target their
enforcement action. We recommend that our
regulators should explore with the industry,
whenever appropriate, ways for industry
participants to assume a greater responsibility
over their Dbehaviour through a degree of
self-regulation. The regulator will continue to
police the system, but with greater emphasis on
those particularly at risk and with appropriately
raised stakes for those who attempt to abuse the

regulator’s trust...’

34. It should also be noted that the current arrangement
in Hong Kong is on par with, if not more stringent than,
systems 1in overseas counterparts. According to the
“Benchmarking Study of Overseas Regulations and Practices
on Management and Control of Inside Plumbing Services”
[COI Bundle C19.6/143/14452], most countries/cities
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covered by the study allow LPs to self-certify the
compliance of the completed works. Some water
authorities will inspect (may be on random basis) the
completed works to verify that the inside services are
installed according to relevant requirements.

Contamination
Soldering

Tin Solder (paras 89-93 of the Report)

il : Chairman, it’s...
TR M B -

f : IH4%E - Shall I finish the whole thing? “It shouldalso
be noted that the current arrangement in Hong Kong”
-- sorry, paragraph 35.

35. The HKIE/TF stated in para 90 of the Report that
“lead-free tin solder was not explicitly or implicitly
stated as a specification in WSD wvarious materials

searched”.

36. It shouldbe clarified that there is clear provision
that soldering alloys shall be “lead-free”. Section 17
of Schedule 2 to the WWR provides that “Capillary fittings
or compression fittings shall comply with BS 864 Part
2 ..."”. According to para 5.2.2 of BS 864 Part 2, for
potable water applications, solder used for making
capillary joints shall be one of the lead free grades of
soft solder. BS EN 1254 Part 1, being the latest version
of BS 864 Part 2, specifies in the Note of Table 6 that
“Soldering alloys with lead ...are not permitted in
installations for water for human consumption”. It is
also noted that the construction contracts of both the

Housing Authority and the Architectural Services
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Department have specified the lead-free solder

requirement in their plumbing specification.

Water Sampling Testing Protocol; and Water Sampling in
Public Housing Estate (Paras 141 - 158 of the Report)

37. In relation to HKIE/TF'’s observations and comments
on the water sampling testing protocol adopted by WA,
please, refer to the 4t Witness Statement of CHAN Kin Man,

Chief Waterworks Chemist.
IV OBSERVATIONS
Licensed Plumber (paras 296-301 of the Report)

38. The HKIE/TF stated in para 299 of the Report that
WWO and WWR were “so outdated that it would not be realistic
and justifiable to rely on a lone LP in charge of large

projects as PRH development with thousands of flats”.

39. As explained in paragraph 26 above, the WA has, as
early as 1982, put in place a system that involves APs,
who take overall responsibility of the technical
management of building developments, to certify
compliance with WWR and waterworks standards and
requirements in respect of pipes and fittings used in the
project. Throughout the vyears, this system works

satisfactorily.

Lapse of Product Certificates (paras 302-313 of the
Report)

40. In this section, the HKIE/TF stated in para 302 of
the Report that they did not understand the rationale
behind the decision of WSD Circular Letter No. 2/2015 dated
11 August 2015 [COI Bundle C5/61/4068-4069] on the
withdrawal, with immediate effect, of approval of

products with test certificates issued beyond 5 years.

471. Under the previous general acceptance scheme for

fittings, no wvalidity period was specified 1in the
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acceptance letter. WA might withdraw the general
acceptance at any time if the circumstances so warranted,
e.g. 1f there was a material change to the BS that rendered
the fittings unsuitable for use in plumbing system. There
are practical implications to the industry, and time and
resources are required for the industry to respond where
a general acceptance lapses or is revoked (e.g. developers
or contractors will need to identify and propose
alternative fittings or arrange for the fittings 1in
question to be re-tested). The previous general
acceptance scheme was intended to strike a balance between

the need for regulation and practicability.

42. After the discovery of excess lead in drinking water,
WA is made aware of an increased risk of non-compliant
material being used in the plumbing system. The 5-year
validity period arrangement in WSD Circular Letter No.
2/2015 is implemented under the current general
acceptance scheme to introduce tighter control. Under
the said arrangement, when the validity period expires,
the suppliers or relevant parties are required to arrange
for re-testing of the pipes and fittings and re-apply for
general acceptance if the said pipes and fittings are
intended to be installed in inside service so as to ensure
that the pipes and fittings comply with the latest
requirements. As with the previous arrangement, general
acceptance may be withdrawn at any time 1if the

circumstances so warrant.

43. WSD duly notes the concerns of the industry over
the effects of the new arrangement on project delivery.
This reflects the importance of the balance which has to
be struck as mentioned at paragraph 41 above, such that
the industrywill not be over-regulated. Drawing the line
at a S-year validity period is considered to be a proper

balance in the present circumstances.

44, The 5-year validity period arrangement was made
with reference to the similar approval mechanism of the

Water Regulations Advisory Scheme (WRAS) in the United
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Kingdom (“UK”). Essentially, where the standards set out
by water regulations in UK are met, the WRAS confers a
conformance mark confirming the compliance on the

relevant fittings with a 5-year validity period.

45. Doing its best to address the industry’s concerns,
WSD has adopted a flexible approach and implemented
measures to address the concerns. In particular, a Task
Group including representatives from the industry has
been set up recently +to steer and monitor the
implementation of the new improvement measures

promulgated by WSD.

WSD Procedure - Water Sampling Testing (Paras 314 - 324
of the Report)

46. In relation to the HKIE/TF’s observations on the
water sampling testing undertaken by WA, please refer to
the 4th Witness Statement of CHAN Kin Man, Chief Waterworks
Chemist.

Causation of lead contamination (paras 342-362 of the

Report)

47 . In this section, the HKIE/TF commented on the
Preliminary Findings of the WSD Task Force on
Investigation of Excessive Lead Content in Drinking Water
("WSD Task Force”) announced on 25 September 2015

essentially in the following three major areas:

(a) Sampling size (paras 349, 351 of the Report).

(b) Testing methods and analyses (paras 345, 353,
355 & 357 of the Report).

(c) Conclusion and recommendations (paras 356,
359, 360, 361 & 362 of the Report).

48. The Report of the WSD Task Force was issued on 31
October 2015, just prior to the issue of the Report on

2 November 2015. It is available on the WSD’'s website at
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http://www.wsd.gov.hk/filemanager/en/content 52
3/lead content drinking water report.pdf

The Report of the WSD Task Force contains more details
which might not be available at the time HKIE/TF prepared
the Report.

49, The WSD Task Force’s investigation relied on the
analysis of components dismantled from three water supply
chains in Kai Ching Estate and Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2
via a series of tests and analyses including leaching tests,
elemental analyses of components, isotopic analysis,
mathematical modelling and comparison with a control
water supply chain with undetectable lead content in its
water sample in Hung Fuk Estate. The investigations of
the three water supply chains had in common revealed that
leaded solder joints were the cause of excess lead in
drinking water and, although copper alloy fittings also
leached 1lead, they did not result in excess lead in
drinking water. The WSD Task Force considered that such
common findings resulting from the investigations of the
three water supply chains can be applied to other affected
public rental housing, since (i) the design of their inside
services and specifications of pipes and fittings are
similar to those of Kai Ching Estate and Kwai Luen Estate
Phase 2; and (ii) the solders in the joints of their copper
pipes were also found to have lead contents ranging from
18% to 61% well above the limit stipulated in the BS of
0.07%.

50. Isotopic analysis was carried out by the WSD Task
Force for each of the three water supply chains by using
a copper alloy valve, a leaded solder joint and a water
sample taken from the respective housing block of the water
supply chain. The WSD Task Force deduced (rather than
concluded) from the isotopic analysis that the lead in
drinking water mainly came from the leaded solder joints,
which was further substantiated by mathematical modelling
and comparison with the control water supply chain in Hung

Fuk Estate. The leaching test results of the wvarious
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components were expressed 1in pg rather than upg/Litre
because they were used in the mathematical modelling for
estimation of the relative contributions from the
respective components to the lead content in the drinking
water in the three water supply chains.

51. Based on the finding that leaded solder joints were
the cause of excess lead in drinking water, the WSD Task
Force recommended, inter alia, the use of pipe materials
free fromthe risk of misuse of leaded solder in pipe joints
and central procurement of solder material to minimize
the risk of use of leaded solder causing excess lead in
drinking water. The adoption of these recommendations is
to be subject to further study and consideration.

52. I confirm the contents of this Witness Statement
to be true to the best of my knowledge, information and
belief.
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Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

Friday, 19 February 2016
(9.36 am)
(Transcript of simultaneous interpretation
except where otherwise specified)
MR LAW: Chairman, the WSD would like to ask Mr Kan
Kwok Leung, Hugo, to give evidence.
MR HUGO KAN KWOK LEUNG (affirmed)
CHAIRMAN: Please take a seat, Mr Kan.
Examination-in-chief by MR LAW
MR LAW: Mr Kan, good morning. I represent the Water
Supplies Department.

Please open the bundle before you, C21, and then
page 18976. For the purpose of this Inquiry, Mr Kan,
you have prepared an expert report. In a moment, I am
going to read out your report, and then ask you to adopt
it as part of your evidence-in-chief.

Before I do that, please turn to page 18995. This
is your CV. Mr Kan, can you find it?

A. Yes.

Q. This is your CV setting out your education, your
employment history and your professional gqualifications.
I have a simple question about this. On education, you
have a Bachelor of Science degree. Can you please tell
the Commission the background?

A. In the 1990s, I attended a distance learning course from
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a US university.

Q. And you became an apprentice in 1972, so you have been
working in the construction sector, in the plumbing
industry, or have you been doing other jobs?

A. Since 1972, I have been working in this industry,
although for some time I also did something about fire
service installation, but they are all related to
plumbing.

Q. There is also some information about your membership and
licences in professional bodies. The first one,
chairman of the Institute of Plumbing and Heating
Engineering -- Hong Kong branch, 2011 to 2014, this is
the Hong Kong branch of the UK professional association.
Can you please tell us more about this, Chartered
Institution of Plumbing and Heating Engineering?

A. It is one of the oldest plumbing-related professional
associations. They mainly do some design and research,
and they also have a class of membership called RP. Our
WSD and many consultancy firms are using the guidebook
of this particular association as reference.

Q. Has it got anything to do with the licensed plumber's
system in Hong Kong?

A. The WSD would give a exemption for a member of this
association in regard to the three-year plumbing

certificate course.
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Q. You are a member of the Advisory Board of the Licensed
Plumber?

A. After the lead in water incident in July last year, the
WSD has had a number of meetings with the trade and
relevant industry, and some licensed plumbers were
invited to join the advisory board, to have some
discussion on how to regulate the work of licensed
plumbers.

Q. The next one, advisory board of the CICTA, courses of
plumbing and sanitary wares?

A. CICTA is one of the training providers. Together with
trade associations and the industry, they have constant
and regular communications on whether we should provide
something updated in the training course of plumbers.

Q. I am going to read out your expert report now, starting
from page 18996. Please listen carefully to see whether
you need to clarify anything or supplement.

(Statement read in Chinese)

Mr Kan, you heard me read out your witness
statement. There is a signature on page 18994. 1Is it
your signature?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you willing to adopt the contents of this witness
statement as your evidence?

A. Yes.
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Q. Do you have anything to add?

A. No.

MR LAW: Please stay there.

Cross—-examination by MR SHIEH

MR SHIEH: Good morning, Mr Kan. I have some questions to
ask you.

Please, let's look at your CV, page 18995. 1In the
middle, there is an employment history. You started as
an apprentice, and you have been in different posts. So
you started as an apprentice?

A. Yes.

Q. Working from the bottom, can I say that?

A. Yes.

Q. We have heard about a lot of different types of work in
plumbing. You are a licensed plumber. Have you
occupied any positions as a skilled worker?

A. In 1986, I have already obtained a licence as a plumber.
In Morrison Hill -- when Morrison Hill was preparing
requirement for certificate, everything was already in
place. I already have a trade plumber licence at that
time.

Q. We have also heard that in construction sites, there is
something called "da lei". What is it?

A. We call them a co-ordinator, something like that.

Q. So what is the description?

-4-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

A.

Q.

Site foreman. It's equal to site foreman.

So, for an entire estate, there is a site foreman which
co-ordinates everything. For a large site, there are
different blocks. For different blocks, there is

a person responsible. You have also occupied that
position; right?

Right.

Then I can ask you specifics of the goings-on in a site.
Now you work for Merry China Asia Ltd, and we have heard
about the roles of different companies. In the case of
public housing, the HA, the Housing Authority, will
award a contract to a main contractor, and some works
will be delegated to subcontractors and some of the
works will be delegated to plumbing subcontractors.

Your company, is it a plumbing subcontractor?

Yes.

We have heard from other subcontractors. You may think
you are not the same as them. But usually, we have
heard that the main contractor would, say, award

a subcontract to Ho Biu Kee or Golden Day or other
companies. So your company's role is similar to that of
Golden Day and Ho Biu Kee, and that is you are awarded
a subcontract in plumbing by the main contractor?

Well, I would say similar. It's similar. But I don't

know the scope of their contracts with the main
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contractor.
Q. But generally speaking, Jjust generally -- every contract
is different, the scope will be different -- mainly, you

will be given a contract by the main contractor, they
need to do some plumbing works, and you will be given
a subcontract to do that?

A. Well, for the trade, the main contractor will generally
subcontract the different processes, different works, to
different subcontractors. This is called domestic
subcontracting. It's a commercial deal between the two.

Apart from acting as a domestic subcontractor, we
also act as a specialist for other government
departments. Those will be very different in terms of
responsibility which may be based on statute. So
I don't know whether we are similar with other
subcontractors, in that regard.

Q. So you may be appointed direct by government, or you may
be given a subcontract by the main contractor. The main
contract is between the government and the main
contractor?

A. Yes. There are different layers of subcontracting.

Q. Let's have a look at your document. Page 18978. You
are referring to generally what would be done for large
housing projects. You mention building services

engineers would come up with plumbing proposals. You
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state that LPs are generally not involved in the
preparation work for the plumbing proposal of a large
housing project?

As a licensed plumber or a very vastly experienced
LP, would this somewhat impede your work?

A. Can you be more specific?

Q. The building services engineer has to take care of many
things. They may or may not have attended any course on
plumbing; right?

A. I cannot say I agree with you. There are about 3,000
LPs in Hong Kong. Only 700 are actively involved in
projects. The other 2,000 are working in consultancy
firms. They act as consultants. For my association,
for my committee, over half of the committee members
were working in consultancy firms.

Q. So, in the early planning and preparation for the
plumbing worker, although it's done in the name of
an LP, it may be just carried out by one particular
staff in the consultancy firm?

A. Well, we call the one responsible for the plumbing works
the LP, but in the early preparation of the project, the
building services engineer will never be the LP which
would carry out the works.

Q. In due course, I will go to the details. In theory, the

LP is the most knowledgeable person in the process; do

-7-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

A.

you agree?

I won't say the LP is the most knowledgeable person. We
have a few thousand LPs. Some LPs would just work

on sites after acquiring the qualification. Some would
proceed with further studies, certificates, diplomas and
even degrees and would become management staff. So LPs
are working at different levels.

Let's not just dwell on whether someone is an LP or
holds a licence. Let me see if I can summarise what you
have said accurately. The building services engineer or
company would do some preparation, but the LP who
finally gives his signature to the form may not have

a chance to participate in the first stage, so maybe the
building services firm also employs LPs who are
knowledgeable about this. So they are not asking some
layman to do it. So they would make sure that in their
team, there is someone who may or may not be an LP but
who are knowledgeable?

For a building services engineer, whether he is an LP or
not, it's not really important. They would calculate
the capacity required for a drinking water system.
That's the work of the BS engineer. But for the
licensed plumber, he has to make sure that the works are
carried out according to the Waterworks Ordinance and

Regulations.
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Q.

So it may not be relevant that in the early preparation
the knowledge of an LP will be important.

In paragraph 6, you said something about the lack of
participation or involvement.
That's not something derogative in nature. When will
the LP come on stage? After the plumbing proposal has
been approved, as I set out in the report, after the WWO
form is submitted, and the licensed plumber will be
appointed at that stage.
So, if you look at the documents, you will see the name
of the licensed plumber set out in WW0467?
From my personal experience, more than ten years ago,
I participated in the work in a big consultancy
contract. I became a member of a team, and I was given
to understand that if they won the contract, I would be
a subcontractor for them as well. But the licensed
plumber would only be appointed at a later stage, not in
the preparation stage.
Please now refer to paragraph 8. This is a question
about the system. Paragraph 8. For a project, you have
the so-called wind, fire, water and electricity, as you
call it. Wind or air-conditioning, fire or fire
services, and electricity services are subject to more
requirements, as a matter of system. For example, the

HA has a list of works contractors, or nominated
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contractors, for air-conditioning, fire services and
electricity services.

Although you didn't say anything about this in your
report, maybe this has to do with relatively little
importance is attached to the plumbing-?

That's the reality in the market. And here I am talking
about HA projects. HA has some special arrangements.
The licensed plumber or contractors do not have to
install the pump station or fire services.

So you just have to handle things mechanical?

As a plumbing subcontractor in other projects, we will
participate actively in a number of E&M services.
Usually, we will be involved in the pump system, maybe

a solar heating system or water treatment equipment. We
will be involved in those, in non-HA projects.

But for HA projects, they would take those away and

we would just be responsible for connecting the pipes.

CHAIRMAN: You mean for private developers, it's not a usual

A.

practice? Usually, you would cover everything?

Yes.

MR SHIEH: For private projects, say a private developer

wants someone to take care of plumbing, he would seek
out a contractor like yours, and you would not just be
responsible for connecting the pipes or finding the

manpower to connect the pipes; you would be responsible
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A.

for all the things you have said?

I did mention the West Kowloon project. We had a team
of resident staff, including engineers, and every day we
will have regular meetings with the main contractor, to
ensure compliance with the contract and with the
Waterworks Ordinance. We would be involved in planning
and modifications up to the stage where the approval is
granted by the WSD.

But for HA projects, plumbing works is narrow in scope
for the contractor?

Yes, that's so far.

What about Hong Kong Housing Society?

I have not been involved directly in Housing Society
projects. I did participate in HA projects. I have
also submitted quotations for some of the projects, so
I know HA projects more.

Paragraph 10. For WWO46, you have to submit the
relevant documents, for the approval of the Water
Authority.

Paragraph 11. An LP may operate in different forms.
Some are proprietors, some are workers and employees.
We have heard from other people that some of them form
their own company; some work as employees. Some LPs
have got a licence, without doing any actual work.

Let's disregard those. And also let's disregard LPs who
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are working not as an LP, who do not have to sign
documents as an LP. You know there are many LPs but
they are now working as employees but they are not doing
the job of an LP. They may be an employee of a BSE
company. Will they actually sign work as an LP?
Different people have different modus operandi, and some
people may not actually know how to solder something on.
You give them money and then they will just simply sign
the form, because you can only sign in the capacity of
an LP. Are you aware of such a practice? You don't
have to name any names.

A. Well, let me put it this way. At the early stage,

I have heard about something like that, but in recent
years, very rarely. For those who only sign, they are
the rare cases. There are subcontractors, yes, but

I pay attention to how this excess lead in water
incident unfolds, but sometimes, some people are limited
by the terms of contract, and the employer refused to
listen to them.

CHAIRMAN: It's not the case that they did not supervise or
check anything, but it's just that the scope is very
limited. They won't just not show when WSD came to
inspect or they wouldn't do anything, but when they need
to append a signature or when the WSD is requiring their

appearance, then they will be present. It's not the
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MR

case that they just close their eyes and sign and only
do just that.

SHIEH: Well, in general, do you have this impression?
Perhaps I will put it in a more succinct way. They are
bound by the terms of contract, so you only supervise
items that your employers ask you to do, and then you
will just sign your name; it happens, right?

I have heard about such instances. As you know,
everyone is following the news after the excessive lead
in water, but what I can say is that they are bound by
a lot of things.

Under the regulations, the LP has great
responsibilities?

Say, for example, for myself, at the first step --
actually, I participated even from making quotations.
Well, for 046, we are all very familiar with the form,
when you append your signature you in effect say that
the plumbing works will conform with the numerous
requirements, including the material used that has to be
compliant with British Standards.

So the responsibility of an LP is very different
from other LPs, because LPs have to take the initiative
to understand waterworks requirements. But if you say
that for some they are the boss, they call the shots,

whereas there are others who are employees and they will
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just do whatever their employers instruct them to do, in
effect that is not performing the duty of an LP?

A. For work projects, we have seen LPs perform their
duties. As an LP, the licence itself is the means to
make a living. Of course, they will cherish it.

I have been LPs in some projects. When I find some
irregularities, non-compliance of the regulations,
I would insist on changing it, otherwise I would not
sign. They could fire me. I can find another job. But
I would insist.

Q. So what you mean is that even when you are an employee,
and even if your employer instructed you to do something
expedient, just put down your signature, but you attach
importance to your professionalism, to your licence, so
you would insist on doing everything, and you would quit
if you are asked to do something that you should not do?

A. Well, in 1986, when I obtained the licence, I have been
employed in different companies. At that time, the
employer asked me to do the work of an LP, and at that
time I insisted on following the proper steps.

Q. So, for the LP, in the end, if the LP was made or is
made to do something that falls short of supervision,
the consequence will be a licence revocation or points
being deducted from the licence?

A. Whether an individual LP will insist on doing the right
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thing is down to the person.

Q. Let me show you page 18982. Paragraph 19.

Here, line 5 onwards, you talk about subcontractors,
that the subcontractors will place orders for the pipes
and fittings that meet the specifications or those that
have been approved in accordance with the approved shop
drawings and bills of materials.

In relation to these approved shop drawings and
bills of material, in public housing projects, the HA is
the responsible department, they award the contract to
main contractors, and then the materials will have to be
approved; subcontractors will submit fittings and parts
to the main contractor, which then in turn is submitted
to the Housing Authority for approval; this is what you
are referring to; right?

A. No. If you are talking about line 5, these have already
been done beforehand. After the approval has been
obtained, in relation to the use of materials, I would
enter into contracts with suppliers, stating the
quantity of materials used, and I would require partial
delivery to dovetail the progress of works. So this is
about what happens afterwards.

Q. Yes, I understand, but I would like to get some
background information from you. In relation to

approval and in accordance with approved shop drawings
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and bills of materials, so the process has been gone
through, the HA gave approval, and we have often seen
the approval forms, and then you will just procure
materials in accordance with the approved material list.

We know that for a lot of the parts, submissions
will have to be made for approval to the HA, say for
example, bath tubs, taps. They must be submitted. For
some others, it's not a must, but more often than not
plumbing subcontractors will submit these items, just
for piece of mind.

Solder material is one of such items?

A. Under the law, there is no requirement for submission
for approval of solder materials.

Q. What about contract?

A. Well, all materials used have to be approved, that is
under the contract. We are a subcontractor; we obtain
the contract. After the meeting at the site, we will
prepare an approval list of materials. That's to be
done by subcontractors. We will set out the list of
materials to be submitted for approval. We will submit
it to the tier above. This is a schedule only. REs,
consultants, architects will look at the list to see if
it's an exhaustive list of materials to be used.

Q. So the tier above, you mean the main contractor?

A. Well, yes, the body from the owner. They will approve
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there is a list of commonly used materials, that will
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do, whereas others, they are very strict. It depends on

the subcontractor. But whether it's an exhaustive list

or not, your supervising team may require you to make it

an exhaustive list. Well, according to the contract,

it's an exhaustive list, even down to a screw. Say,

example, the XRL contract 823. We submit for approval

even every bolt and nut. It's not the case that the

for

contract doesn't require you to do that. If you did not

make a submission, if you are not required to make

a submission, then no submission would be done.

Q. From the evidence we have heard, a lot of subcontractors

have submitted solder material samples to the tier

above, which in turn is submitted to the HA. The coil

in front of you, in green, is used by your company; yes?

A. Yes.

Q. But from the numerous subcontractors we have seen, they

use this material, at least in their submission, and
your company uses FRY, this green coil; right?

A. In the past decade or so, yes.

Q. The HA will give you an approval form, say for example

this FRY, and in relation to your company, after the

submission and approvals have been made, what happens?

Is there a mechanism in place to make sure that the
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right material is ordered as per this approved 1list?

A. Well, we act in accordance with the contract. We will
prepare a submission schedule for approval, and we will
make submissions. After approvals have been made --
well, all the material, all the documents are in
English, but we will get our staff to translate them
into Chinese to give to foremen.

Q. So there is a communication mechanism. So the approved
materials, the information will be disseminated to the
frontline, to the shop floor, to the person in charge,
whatever post they are, whatever title they are, so that
they will know what materials they need?

A. It's not just that. There are many different pipes to
be used. Say, for example, in private developments, say
in 1lift lobbies, or on some special occasions, we would
need those that are encased in plastic and some without.
So we have to specify which ones are just the naked
pipes and which ones are encased in plastic, because if
we use the wrong one, we will need to rectify it and
then there will be double the work. That is actually
for the benefit of the operation of the company, to make
it clear.

CHAIRMAN: The HA's main contracts, they are all in English.
None of it is in Chinese. Is that the case, from your

experience?
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A. I have not directly engaged in HA contracts, but for
contracts in the private sector, all the drawings, all
specifications, they are all in English. So, at the end
of the submission, we will prepare a Chinese version for
foremen, to tell them about what had been approved and
what they are to be used on.

CHAIRMAN: With regard to plumbing proposals, vertical
plumbing drawings, they are all in English?

A. Yes, recently.

CHAIRMAN: I don't think the HA is an exception. They won't
use Chinese. Please elaborate in a moment. I ask this
question because some plumbing subcontractors and LPs
have told us that they do not know any English, and they
are awarded subcontracts all the same by the HA.

A. I don't know the wording used, but for those working for
private projects, we are required to employ at least one
staff who can read, write and speak fluent English, to
communicate with those one tier up.

CHAIRMAN: That's for private projects?

A. I don't know what is the situation with HA contracts.

CHAIRMAN: That's okay. We will find out. I know the
subcontracts are in Chinese, but the main contract is in
one version, in English only.

MR HO: I think he is talking about the information for site

agent.
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COMMISSIONER LAI: The site specifications are all in
English.

MR SHIEH: So there's a requirement to have someone who can
read English on the site?

CHAIRMAN: Very often, the subcontract will stipulate that
you have to comply with the provisions in the main
contract. If you have no one who can read English, how
would you know whether it's in line with the main
contract?

MR SHIEH: Or do you have the mentality that someone else
would be doing the checking?

A. Well, a consulting engineer may be doing different
projects, and sometimes we will work for them
repeatedly. We would ask what is required and they
would say, "Just do what you did in the last project."

CHAIRMAN: But the General Specifications of the HA are all
well established. It's stored in a library. For
specific projects, they may add some specialised specs
that would only be required for that particular project.
If you don't read English, there's no way you can know.
Do you know what I am saying?

A. Yes. Well, there's no legal requirement that an LP must
understand English, but we know that Hong Kong is
an international city, where English is commonly used.

The LP system in Hong Kong is that if you have
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an education level of form 3, you can be enrolled in
a certificate course in plumbing.

CHAIRMAN: I am not saying that some language requirement
would be important, but in this case we have an LP who
is also a proprietor, who has told us that he doesn't
read a word of English. I just wonder whether that
could really happen.

MR SHIEH: For example, you have to understand the
Waterworks Ordinance and what the British Standards are,
and if necessary you have to check the British
Standards, and if you get a copy of the BS, it costs you
$1,000, and there's no Chinese version.

A. As a subcontractor, we are not the manufacturer. We
will not try and understand in great detail the BS
concerned or what the pipes are made of. I will just
get a quotation from the supplier, "I need materials of
this BS and please give me a price quotation." Then
I will ask for proof. There will be a certificate. So
sufficient documentation would be given.

Q. So they would give you some document saying that it's in
compliance with the relevant BS?

A. Yes.

Q. For soldering material, which suppliers are you dealing
with?

A. Prosperity.

-21-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into

Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58
Q. So if you want unleaded solder, you use FRY -- your
company uses FRY -- you don't know what it's called in

Q.

the order, but what would you call the soldering
material, when you place order with Prosperity?

I would call it unleaded solder wire.

Have you seen those in sticks? They are called

a 50 per cent lead, or in Cantonese, "ng sap 1lik".

"Lik" in Cantonese means lead, so it's 50 per cent lead.
We all know that.

"We all know that" -- what do you mean? Who is "we"?

CHAIRMAN: You mean those involved in plumbing works?

A.

My suppliers and I and my company, my people know, but

I dare not say that everyone outside my company knows.

MR SHIEH: So you would tell Prosperity that it's unleaded

solder wire?

Yes.

You insist that the word "unleaded" is there?

Well, they will ask you, "What kind of solder,

50 per cent lead or unleaded?" They will ask you.

If you tell Prosperity, "I want solder wire", they will
say, "Wait a moment, leaded or unleaded"?

But Prosperity will understand that it's unleaded if you
ask for solder wire. We have been dealing with
Prosperity for years. It's either solder wire or solder

sticks.
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Q. They supply both?

A. If you want solder wire, they would give you those
coming in coils, and our foremen also know -- our site
staff are all graduates of courses of instruction where
they will be instructed on the requirements of the
Waterworks Ordinance. They are graduates of VTC.

Q. When your company places an order with Prosperity, you
would say you require unleaded solder wire. But in the
case of Prosperity, if you just say "solder wire", they
would give you the coils, unleaded solder wire, and then
if you want solder sticks, they will give you
50 per cent lead solder sticks. So that's your
understanding, in your dealing with Prosperity?

A. They have many salespersons. They have been following
up our account, working on our account, for years. So
I do not know what other suppliers would be doing. You
may be talking about this as a practice of Prosperity,
but I am really talking about the practice of the
salespersons. There are account executives, they deal
with different accounts; they know what our requirements
are.

Q. So what you call them would depend the salesperson you
are dealing with?

A. Yes. As I said, we would provide submissions. We would

tell the salesperson over the phone that, "I have been
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given this contract and I now have to submit samples,
and for this particular site I need certain things", and
they would know what materials would be used for my
site. There's no room for mistake.

Q. We have heard -- sorry, we have to tell you the evidence
that we have heard from other sources. You are
an experienced person. Have you heard of
high-temperature soldering stick?

A. No.

Q. If it's a soldering stick, it's a 50 per cent lead
soldering stick. What about high-temperature? We
understand high-temperature to be unleaded. But what
about a mix of the two, high-temperature soldering
stick?

CHAIRMAN: It's not necessarily the same. You have to look
at the context. Unleaded soldering stick is so-called
high-temperature vis-a-vis the leaded soldering stick.
But depending on the lead content, we have
low-temperature and not so high-temperature soldering
material. So that should be the context.

First, so the question is, you haven't heard of
high-temperature soldering stick, so basically there's
no other relevant gquestions that you can put to him.

A. Well, the soldering materials would be stored in our

warehouse. After the lead in water incident last year,
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some media interviewed us and they saw the material
stored on the floor of the warehouse.

MR SHIEH: So you would use unleaded soldering wire?

A. That's the contractual requirement. When the media
people came to see how we did it, they would see that
even for screws and nuts and bolts, the brand name is
shown on them.

CHAIRMAN: Has your company ever used leaded soldering
material in any project?

A. My company was set up in 1992. We have never used
leaded soldering material in Merry China Asia Ltd. But
prior to 1995, I had another company, set up in 1986.
It's called Hugo Engineering Company.

At that time, we didn't know the difference. TWe
knew about the legal requirement of the use of unleaded
soldering material in 2000. A salesperson of a supplier
came to my company in 1994. I had known him for many
years. He is not a plumbing worker. He showed me a tin
of flux, and also he said it would be very easy. You
don't have to end-feed the solder. He showed me how to
do it. He said it's very easy. You just apply clean
solder and the solder will not run out, so it would form
a ring very beautifully. So we found that to be
cost-saving and manpower saving.

MR SHIEH: You use it in the Forum Hotel in Shenzhen?
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A.

Yes, because you can work with it very easily, and after
2000 I knew about lead-free solder because I started to
employ VIC-trained employees. And now there was a BS EN
1057, the latest standard, and in the catalogue they
would state that it's unleaded.
In 1994, you carried out the Forum Hotel project, so you
don't need to have the solder embedded in the pipes; you
can use solder wire, as suggested by the salesperson.
But you know just half of what is happening.
I thought it was just to save labour.
But it so happened that it was lead-free, and after 2000
you realised that it so happened that it also meets the
requirement of non-leaded.

You mentioned about basic stock. What do you mean
by "basic stock"?
It is very simple. When it comes to some simple works,
every day people will do the same process, and it's not
very desirable to just break -- to do it in a different
way.
So, for every floor, they will just cut the relevant
parts they would need to use?
For corridors, they are quite long; we just put them in
place. For the individual units, for the HD, that is
the practice over the years. There are different types

of units with their own code names. We will take
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measurements, say 500 units in the same block, they will

be the same.

Q. So they will cut out the relevant sections, in the right

numbers?
A. In the 1990s, even when GI pipes were used --
Q. GI pipes?
A. Yes, and of course they are all pre-made.
Q. So soldered as well?

A. Yes. It happens.

Q. But that shouldn't happen, right, in the first place?

A. Well, it depends on the contract requirement, whether it

should be done or not. Well, as long as there is

sufficient supervision, you act in accordance with the

mainland, it's okay. As you know, the steel cable for

the Tsing Ma Bridge was made in the mainland.

Q. But you require licensed plumbers to do it, so you can't

have the basic stocks cut out on the mainland?

A. The law was enacted in the last century. The company

will not -- it's a business. The business itself will

not do the actual work, and employees will be recruited.

CHAIRMAN: I don't think we need to go into that detail,

about the legal definition.

MR SHIEH: So for cutting out work pieces from basic stock,

you will do it beforehand and then take them to the

individual floors?
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Paragraph 23. This is what you meant. The 1994
Forum project -- let me work out the chronology. You
talk about different types of soldering. One of them is
mechanical.

A. It's compression without soldering.

Q. It's just, well, fixed, screwed on by hand. That is
one.

It's soldering ring fittings. If you refer to
paragraph 22, we have heard from some companies, calling
this soldering fittings.

A. In the 1970s, we heard that not many people could do
this specific process. If we have to use soldering ring
fittings, we will have to heat up the pipe, which is
tin-free. Then we will Jjust smear some tin onto it.
It's called white jointing.

At that time, most of them are soldering fittings,
because you will -- well, you will have to do a step
more, which i1s more cumbersome.

Q. So, at the beginning, it's just mechanical, and then
later soldering fittings. Then, in 1994, you heard from
the salesperson in the Forum project that you don't need
to purchase additional material; you just buy FRY and
then you can solder the pipes together. That's your
understanding; is that right?

A. Yes.
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Q. Now, at the end of the 1980s and in the 1990s -- please
turn to page 18985, paragraph 25. In the last line, you
said that the WSD cannot determine solely by sight
whether the solder used for connecting pipes contains
lead during inspection.

So soldering material is a consumable, filler
material. Very often, once it's used, it will blend
with the pipe. It's impossible to identify it by the
naked eye during inspection by the WSD. And you said at
the beginning that the supervision work will be done by
the resident site team, and you said that if you depend
on inspection, it may be too late.

So the relevant stakeholders, whoever they are,
should supervise and monitor.

It's also your understanding that none of the
parties specifically checked to see if the materials
used are actually lead-free. The approval is one thing,
and you know that the HA does not require you to check
solder materials. It's form 6210.

Let me ask you directly -- your understanding in the
process of work is that no one will actually go to the
construction site to see what type of solder materials
used?

A. You can't say that.

Q. Then who actually has done it?
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A.

I don't know what other people do, and I've been in
different positions. I've been working on site,
supervising sites. Well, not just the solder material.
I even check lubricants. Say, for example, some ductile
type -- well, there is a washer, to stop water from
leaking, it's made by EPDM, and if you use oil-based
lubricant, it will make that washer brittle, resulting
in a leak, and if there is sufficient monitoring, yes,
at the time when the initial examination was done, there
would not be any problems, but a few years later, there
will be leaking.

Paragraph 25, let me ask you, straight to the point.
Requirements of soldering materials, there are
contractual requirements in the main contract, and these
requirements will go down to the plumbing subcontractor,
and very often the main contract will require lead-free
solder material; that you know?

We don't necessarily know whether that will be stated in
the contract. But for all contracts, whether it's
public or private or HD project, I know that we're
required to comply with the law, and we understand that
something is not to be used. According to the
subcontract, it may not cover just the plumbing works.
And in the entire contracts, all the relevant

Ordinances -- fire services, waterworks -- will be set
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Q.

out. It is very long. It was our focus.

So, in relation to soldering, it's the Waterworks
Ordinance?

Yes.

For the HA and the WSD, their respective purview is
related to solder materials. Say there is a contractual
requirement that you comply with the law, so the HA,
being the principal employer, will check whether you use
compliant material. So, for the HA contracts, it's the
duty for the HA to make sure that you comply with the
contract. Under the WWO, do you know that there is

a requirement, statutory requirement, that you use
lead-free solder material, and it's also under the
responsibility of the WSD?

We know that the HA and the WSD at no time at all
tried to see what solder material was used at the site;
you are aware of that?

For the WSD, in the works process, they did not inspect
solder materials. But whether they need to conduct
regular inspections under the system, I think that will
be impossible, because very often we talk about
cost-effectiveness. The law requires the LP to shoulder
certain statutory responsibilities, to make sure
everything is done in accordance with the law. So you

would not expect the tier above you to do it with you.
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Say, for example, you employ A to do something and then
you employ B to supervise A and then you employ C to
supervise B. That would be duplication. So, in the
work, everyone will perform their respective duties.

Q. So the requirement of lead-free solder materials is
under the WWO, but your view is that requiring the WSD
to send an officer to conduct inspection and test is not
practical, because under the system, the LP has a role
to play, which is to ensure that everything is
compliant?

A. At the beginning, under the contract, under the law, all
the approvals have been obtained. We order the right
materials. There's nothing to see or check, because
these are the items that are distributed. Workers would
not be stupid enough to purchase materials of their own.

COMMISSIONER LAI: So, according to you, there is no way to
supervise it?

A. No, it's not that. Well, if everything is done right,
we will not send someone to check the workers. Say at
the peak there are 20 or 30 workers doing the same
process. Are you going to ask 20 inspectors of the WSD
to check them? Because you have to stand there over
their shoulders when they are actually soldering.

CHAIRMAN: But if what you say stands, that means all

Hong Kong citizens will have to abide by the law, there
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is no need to have any police officers. Then the judge
will not have anything to do.

Well, every decision being made by a judge is being
monitored by people of different levels, and if we make
a mistake, we will be told off.

Let's have a break first.

(11.29 am)

(A short adjournment)

(12.04 pm)

MR SHIEH: Mr Kan, we are on paragraph 25.

At the site, in reality, we know what actually would
be done by the WSD and the HA. I will tell you so you
can tell us whether you share the observation.

When WWO046 is submitted, there's an annex there,
which would set out the parts, the fittings to be used.
You know this?

A. Yes.

Q. But soldering material or sundry items, it's one of the
items to be listed in the annex. So, when the LP fills
out the WWO046, he doesn't really have to pay attention
to which kind of soldering material? There's no
requirement under WWO046 on whether people should pay
attention to the soldering material used; agree?

A. Yes.

Q. During the construction -- I'm not saying that LP -- WSD
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A.

and their staff do not have an inspection system to
check the materials used during the construction?
No, there's no such system, but I know the WSD also send

their staff to inspect construction sites.

CHAIRMAN: So they will check if the pipes are properly

MR

connected before concreting?

Well, for some hidden pipes, the LP would report to the
WSD. I am not talking about this. They have customer
service staff of the WSD, when they go to visit the
site, if they see another site next to it, they would
sometimes enter for inspection. For example, approval
has not been given for that other site and still some
people are working, they will check.

SHIEH: But there's no checklist that they would put some
ticks against certain items in the inspection?

When partial completion is reported, you have to
highlight on the plan and tell the WSD that that part of
the project has been completed, and they will send some
people to have a look.

In Hong Kong, there are modifications as work
progresses. So you may or may not follow the approved
plans, the building plans. The landowner, the owner and
the contractors may modify as they work. So we would
inform the WSD on any modifications and revisions. So

sending people to inspect your work during the
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construction is not very meaningful.

Q. Maybe for some reason you have asked them to give
an inspection. So, even if there is such an inspection,
they would not check the material used?

A. Yes, they will check the materials used, in accordance
with the annex, whether they use the right pipes, and
also whether the alignment is the one approved.

Q. But you don't have to set out the soldering material in
the annex?

A. Well, as I've said, they won't check what kind of
lubricant you use, and so on and so forth.

Q. So that's the WSD's work.

The HA now, turning to the HA -- when the
contractor's materials are sent to the site -- I asked
you a question about form 6210 -- you said you were not

familiar with the form. You are more familiar with the
WSD forms, I suppose?

A. I did not participate in any HA projects in recent
years.

Q. All right. From your understanding, when materials are
sent to the site, the Housing Department would check the
delivery?

A. Yes. The Housing Department has a requirement of taking
some samples for testing.

Q. I can tell you that they have a checklist. The check is
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done for certain documentation. No check is done on
soldering material. Do you know that?

A. Yes, after this incident I have heard about that, but
not previously.

Q. In paragraph 25, you said during the visual inspection,
after work is completed, it's really not visible. We
are not talking about the main contractor. We are
talking about public authorities and government
departments, the WSD and the Housing Authority. So they
have to submit a form with the annex to the WSD, and
when materials are delivered to the Housing Department
side, they will check the materials, but it doesn't
cover soldering material. For you, who would do the
checking?

A. It's just something you rely on mutual trust. I have
not recently been involved in HA projects. For private
projects -- you know Hong Kong is a crowded place, and
for private projects, they don't have a big ingress for
vehicles, and very often it's a restricted zone around
the clock, so they will have to enter at a very narrow
entrance.

So how could I know that they will deliver the
materials we use? We would inform the main contractor
of the materials that we would order, and the resident

staff of the main contractor or the resident engineer
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would do the checking for us, when they are delivered to
the site.

Q. Maybe I should rephrase my question. HA and WSD have to
work with some soldering material involved, in terms of
supervision, and so on. But for checking delivery by
the HD, Housing Department, it doesn't cover the
soldering material, and the WSD doesn't require you to
set out the soldering material in the annex of the form.
Both are opportunities that would otherwise be seized to
tell you whether the soldering material is leaded or
not, but then the opportunity is lost, because they just
don't check and you cannot tell whether the soldering
material is leaded or not.

Let's set aside those deliberate cases, such as
informing you, "I used this material and I intend to use
another material." Let's set that aside. Do you agree
that those are opportunities to identify leaded
soldering material?

A. If the site has been informed of the materials to be
delivered to the site, then there's a delivery note.

Q. Yes, but no one is there to check if the materials are
in compliance?

A. If it's just the soldering material, if let's say
Prosperity is delivering some soldering material to the

site, the note would say it's unleaded.
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Q.

Here, we are talking about the system, not just the
public organisations, the Authority. Either you set out
what's to be used, or you check the materials delivered,
but all the parties concerned missed out on the
opportunities available. If I invite you to comment on
the opportunities lost, who did worse than the others?
WSD requires the LP to do the project properly, and it
would do the inspection afterwards. WSD would not be
informed whether there's someone working on a particular
day, and WSD cannot employ so many people to just do
routine inspection to the site.

For private projects, you don't want some
inspectors, they are standing to watch what you are
doing.

You know about some latent shortcomings, for
example, during building a building, you have to pour
concrete, there is a minimum size set. So do you
require the BD to inspect that there is a gap between
the formwork and the concrete?

So in relation to all construction workers,
the owner of the project will appoint representatives to
supervise the site, and the supervisor will inspect
progress of work, whether everything is in compliance
with the contract.

So if that person is knowledgeable of a certain
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area, they will know.

Q. About the owner representative, it would be Housing?

A. For private projects, it depends on who is appointed.

Q. For Housing, they would see whether you comply with the
contract, but for the WSD, you think they have no legal
responsibility, but they have to make sure that the law
is complied with?

A. It's not that. As I said, for some latent defects, we
see that there have been a number of cases in Hong Kong
when a chunk of concrete has fallen off from the
external wall, because there is spalling, because of
some inadequate work procedure. Would you then blame
the BD, because they are the supervising department?

There are a lot of construction sites in Hong Kong.
It is not practical to require them to carry out
inspections for everything.

Q. Well, if it's spalling, then -- well, even if you have
done the work properly, you may not be able to spot it.

CHAIRMAN: I agree with what you said, that there are many
projects, it's impossible to inspect these sites every
single day, but at least there should be some random
checks?

A. Well, from the many years of experience I have, I have
not seen the BD --

CHAIRMAN: Well, BD may not do it, but that's not the focus
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of the Inquiry of this Commission. We will have to --
it is a separate matter.

Counsel is trying to say that the WSD has
supervisory duties. It doesn't really matter how well
the law is written if there is no enforcement. The law
may be perfect, but after, say, a few months, people
find that there is no law enforcement action taken, then
people will not comply with the law. So, when there is
the law, there needs to be a body to enforce the law,
otherwise it will be useless.

If you say you can just park your car on a double
yellow line because police officers will not enforce the
law, do you think anyone will be bothered to find
a car park? So does it mean that police officers will
have to be posted at the end of every street?

So what counsel is trying to ask is along this line.
The Housing Department has their responsibility, because
they are the employer. They will have to inspect and
accept the works. Does it mean the WSD has no
responsibility? There is the law. I agree, yes, it's
impossible for many construction sites to have -- and on
top of that, there are many households undergoing
decoration or renovation. It's impossible to send
an officer to check every single unit, but it doesn't

mean that there shouldn't be any checking at all.
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A. We've had some meetings with the WSD, and we discussed
about whether to set up a system.

We are licensed plumbers. For minor works, for some
E&M projects, then a registered company, a business,
will carry out the duty under the system. If there is
a system saying that if any irregularity is spotted, you
as the supervisor will be held responsible.

CHAIRMAN: Well, this is a different matter, a separate
thing. The thing is, even when there is such a system
in place as you describe, the WSD will have to make sure
that the system is actually implemented.

A. Previously, there was no such system under the WSD, but
after the excess lead in water, in July the WSD issued
a lot of circulars. They now require spot-checks.

There were none but now there are spot-checks, so it's
actually done.

MR SHIEH: For an investigation, it may not be just about
the incidents. Yes, we know that lead will have to be
tested, on top of three other materials. But this time
it's WSD; maybe in the future it's some other
department. So we have to take a macro look.

HA and the WSD, they have respective tasks. When
delivery of material is made, then the soldering
material will have to be checked, say for example

whether it is actually FRY, and there's an annex
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submitted, and if soldering material is included, then
people will be aware of that. The fact is, it wasn't.
According to the HA, these sundry materials, these
filler metals, once it's used, it's consumed, you can't
see it anymore. It's occurred to no one that someone
would actually do something against the law on such
small items. That's why it's not mentioned in any of
the documents.

According to the HD, the Housing Department, there
is an inadequacy of knowledge, of awareness. So, in
relation to some targeted recommendation, you think that
there is a perfectly good reason explaining that?

A. Well, there are a lot of people in society saying
something that is misleading. It was 8 July when I was
first interviewed in relation to the excess lead in
water. I was interviewed because I was well known in
the trade, and some fellow traders called me and said to
me, "For a number of years we've been using the British
solder material." Then I said, "What does the box say?"
Because I know they are using leaded materials, but in
the trade, they think that as long as it is British
made, then it's fine.

But in July I was interviewed on television and some
people said, "If you use British-made products, you'll

be fine", but that is not the case. So a lot of people
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have said something that is misleading, that is if you
use a British-made product, you will be fine.

Q. People think it's been omitted, the chance was missed.
They all think this was just filler material, nothing
big will happen, so I just assume it's compliant,
because once it's used, it disappears, and that's more
or less what everyone has said.

So what do you say about that? Do you think, well,
that's perfectly reasonable because it's a small item,
it occurred to no one that something will happen, or is
it the case that there is a contractual requirement, and
as the chairman said, at least you will have to go
through the motions so that people will stay alert? Or
is it the case that, no, that's not really the case?

A. I think in relation to these incidents there's certainly
neglect, and I'm only talking in relation to what
I know. As I said, there was the XRL project 823, for
diluting paint, turpentine, and we would invite the
owner whether to accept the material. I think it's down
to whether the contractor is responsible.

Q. Let's leave the contractors alone, who are maybe
ordering the wrong material, I think at the top level.

A. I think what we can all see, I've been in construction
sites for many years, for supervisory staff, they are

very busy, because they have to inspect and accept a lot
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of items. They have to prepare lots of reports. For my
construction sites, most of the engineering staff will
have to work overtime, uncompensated. As I said, for
the West Kowloon, work has not started at all, not even
one pipe. But from April to October last year, on
average my staff finished work at about 7.30 or even
9 o'clock. They work overtime without pay for two to
three hours a day, because there was just too much work.
If someone's responsibility is to supervise and
monitor, I think they are simply exhausted.

Q. I understand. I'm not blaming those on the site. They
have the list, and if it is not on the list they will
not check an additional 10 items?

A. If it's already put in place, then it will not be missed
or omitted.

Q. So you think it should be added?

A. Well, if you formulate a piece of legislation for
implementation, if you monitor everything -- well, when
I was interviewed, very often I was asked one thing.
When there is a system in place, what you see is that
the site is very busy; you will need to have additional
resources.

And I said this at the outset. And these items are
inexpensive items, so we never expect someone to try to

cut corners in this regard.
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It's not that I think it's perfectly reasonable.
I myself do everything in the right way. For some other
people, I won't comment. For myself, I have to do what
is right by me.

Q. You just comment, but when you are asked, you will say,
"Well, what has been omitted?", and if that's really the
case, who has neglected their duties, and how come those
that are on a higher level have missed that? So please
refrain from just talking about what you would do.

A. Say, for example, for bar benders, they use cables, and
you know it's very important because it involves the
structure of the building. So, for these wires, they
will have to be softened by heat so that it would be
pliable. But that is not the case for these filler
metals. So in practice, can all this be done and
maintain cost-effectiveness?

Q. I understand that it may be inexpensive, but if it is
substandard, it will affect, say for example, health, or
say, for example, if it's not fixed properly the
building will collapse?

A. I think public education is insufficient about the
excessive lead in water.

Q. Yes, maybe you won't die instantly because of that, you
will have to wait for many years. This time, we talk

about lead, but next time it may be about some other
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heavy metal. So shall we go for cost-effectiveness, or
should we value something on the basis of the price?
It's health-related.

A. Before this incident, I had paid little attention to
lead in water. After the incident, I searched for the
information on the internet, and that's when I found
out. As a licensed plumber, what I cared about was to
comply with the law and also the requirements in the
contract. Every contract will stipulate what to be
used. Then it will be approved by the tier above you,
as very often they would say you must use the materials
in accordance with the instructions of the manufacturer.

As I told you, after the year 2000, I saw in the
catalogue of copper pipes that unleaded soldering
material had to be used. So, no, there will be no
problem if you follow the instruction from the
manufacturer. That would be the responsibility of the
site team.

Q. So previously you knew about this requirement in law and
in the contract, and after the incident you then
realised that it's health-related?

A. Well, I knew lead was hazardous to health, but I did not
pay much attention to WHO requirements or safety of
drinking water require certain things to be done. So we

would only follow the Waterworks Ordinance, and we
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believed that full compliance would mean everything
would be okay.

Q. I would like you to look at ABl. Have you heard of this
gentleman called Chan Siu Wing?

A. I know him.

Q. He testified in this Commission some time ago. He is
from the Hong Kong Plumbing and Sanitary Ware Trade
Association Ltd.

Is your company a member of this association? It's
a trade association; the members are companies?

A. Well, both individuals and companies can be members. My
company 1s a member, but it wasn't at that time.

Q. This Mr Chan submitted a number of documents to us. In
1998, the Secretariat of the Trade Association issued
this document to its members. It's a circular, a letter
to members:

"Connecting copper pipes and fittings for hot and
cold water. Please pay attention to the following.
Please use lead-free soldering fitting. If you use the
end feed capillary fitting, you must use lead-free
solder."

Mr Chan could not tell us why they had to issue this
letter to members, why it was necessary to remind
members. So, towards the end of the 1990s, can you

recall whether there was anything special, any special
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talking points or incidents, that would prompt the trade
to pay attention to these issues?

A. Well, no such recollection. As far back as 1998, I was
not a member of this trade association. I did not
receive this. If I had received this, I might try to
search for relevant information as regards why, but my
company -- I was not a member.

Q. And you cannot recall what happened back then in
Hong Kong that would have prompted the trade association
to issue this letter? Was there anything special to any
construction projects?

A. No. Some of our employees who had attended the VTC
training courses came into my employment, and I paid
attention to the catalogue prepared by the
manufacturers. I recall that under BS 1057, lead-free
solder has to be used.

Q. Please look at this document. It's a newsletter. It's
also from the Hong Kong Plumbing and Sanitary Ware Trade
Association Ltd.

This document was distributed in an annual dinner
gathering of members, "The development of lead-free
copper alloys for use in drinking water applications in
the European Union". So, simply put, it's a situation
in the EU. Four member states of the EU were planning

to promote compliance and safety and the use of
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compliant non-lead fittings.

Then we have another one from Joe Ku, a local
technical adviser. 1It's an article on lead-free water
supply systems. Also, to cut a long story short, he
states here that lead in water can be hazardous, and
also the fact that the US has got a law to tackle lead
in drinking water, but so far there was nothing in
Hong Kong. Then there were some suggestions. That's
page 99. You can see the fittings, the photo showing
the fittings.

Well, he was not giving a forewarning on the current
lead in water incident. He was talking about the US
scenario, and the fact that there were laws in the US to
tackle lead in drinking water.

Did you attend the gatherings?

A. The first one, yes, not the second one.

Q. During such occasions, they would give you some
literature, some documents. Can you recall that you had
a chance to read some of these?

A. I attended the first gathering, so I did take that
booklet back.

Q. It's a book, it's a publication?

A. Yes, it's a publication. It's about 70 to 80 pages. So
I glanced at the topics covered. For example, the

standards to comply with. So we will take a glance and
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know what standards to follow. Here, they are just
talking about some suggestions. But as a licensed
plumber, we have to follow the local legislation.

I know who Joe Ku is.

Q. In the second one -- we are talking about the first one,
2014, tab 8.

A. I know who Joe Ku is.

Q. But it was in 2015, the gathering that you did not
attend?

A. Many LPs in Hong Kong are knowledgeable. Some are
holding high positions, and he is one of them. They are
responsible for advance preparation in consultancy
firms. They will head waterworks projects divisions in
the companies, and they were the people who select the
plumbing materials to be used. The consultant's firm
would also have access to the outside work environment
and not just the Hong Kong local situation, and some
would be carrying out different plumbing works in the
US, in Europe and the Middle East. They would share the
experience gained with local practitioners.

So we joined such trade associations to gain access
to information and the practices elsewhere.

Q. So, if there were incidents, you may be prompted to
consider whether similar incidents could have happened

in Hong Kong?

-850 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

A. Yes.

CHAIRMAN: Let's return to the 1998 document which Mr Shieh
has asked you to look at. It's the circular in March
1998. You said it was in the year -- or after 2000 that
you knew about the use of lead-free solder?

A. Well, as a matter of requirement, yes.

CHAIRMAN: 1In the Waterworks Regulations, it's still BS 864
part 2 -- it's set out in the regulations. Do you know
that in January 1998, by coincidence, 1254/1998 was
promulgated, replacing 864. So in January 1998, the
British Standard Institute promulgated that. So you
doesn't know that at the time?

A. No, I didn't pay attention. Actually, it was not
prohibited. BS 864 was not prohibited. We didn't have
to submit information on fittings.

CHAIRMAN: You mean soldering material?

A. No, fittings. The pipes would have to comply with the
BS 2871 or other standards. Well, it's not that once
a new standard is promulgated, all sites would be
prohibited from using material complying with older
standards.

CHAIRMAN: Okay. 864 was promulgated in 1983. At first,
leaded fittings, fittings containing lead were allowed;
did you know that?

A. Well, I joined the trade in the 1970s. For the entire
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trade, they would buy soldering sticks.

MR SHIEH: Leaded, you mean?

A. We now know, but our masters, our instructors, never
said whether it's leaded or not. When I took the
licensing examination in the 1980s, we were all using
solder sticks.

CHAIRMAN: All right. Understood.

864, part 2, I can tell you, take it from me, that
in fact in 1983, when it's promulgated, there was no
express requirement, and in fact grade C and D leaded
components or fittings could be used. You said the new
standards cannot be implemented right away because some
people out there are still using standards -- complying
with old standards.

We know that in 1987, there was an amendment, that
is for drinking water systems, the lead content must be
below 0.001 or something like that. But the WSD did not
amend the regulations. They only referred to 864-2.

But funnily enough, in the regulation, they said to
use the latest one. So which one? So, when I am
already doing it, I can continue to use the leaded one
or the non-leaded one; do you understand?

Let's first talk about his understanding, because
the BS is changing all the time, and my understanding

about the reason at that time, in the regulations, it
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says "the latest BS". Let's see if my understanding is
right, because if it's in the Ordinance, it says

BS 1234, then 1234, as we know, will keep changing.
There are many amendments. And if you use BS 1234, then
at this time, you will have to use the latest amendment
of BS 1234.

However, for the WSD, it's different. BS 1234 no
longer exists. It's BS 4567. 867 becomes 1254. Still
there is no change. So which one am I supposed to use?

A. As to about which was used, first, we will look at how
we see it and what the contract says, and if in the law
there is no clear reference as to what is wrong, we will
not assume that it is wrong. If it is available in the
market, we will purchase what is clearly stated in black
and white, say copper pipes. For some main pipes, we
will use ductile pipes. I don't know in which year it
changed to EN 545. But very often we are still required
to use BS 477.

CHAIRMAN: Let's put it this way. I am a plumber. VTC
teaches me to use lead-free, but if I see in the WWO
Regulation, it still says 864 part 2, then which
am I supposed to use?

MR SHIEH: But if you state it in black and white, I will
believe you, I will use this one. I will not check

whether it's an up-to-date BS.
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CHAIRMAN: There are many types and the WSD did not issue

A.

any circular saying, "It's changed, you can't use the
first version anymore", because version 2 may say you
can't really use it; maybe version 3 will say you can't
use it at all. But then you will have to see if the
trade can actually catch up with the requirement;
otherwise, you don't have to comply with it.

But that is the truth.

CHAIRMAN: Then there will be trouble.

A.

Our company is also engaged in public works. In 1996,
we were already a fire services installation
subcontractor. We also have taken up government
projects. They are usually very up-to-date. If they
say something is updated, then it will have to be

adopted.

CHAIRMAN: Yes. The ASD said in 1993 that lead-free is to

be used.
Yes. We will immediately go to find the BS standard.
Say, for example, the fire station in Tseng Choi
Street -- well, there was a requirement to use
galvanised GI pipe, and there was a certain requirement
to the standard.
However, we could not find the material. It's not

available yet.

MR SHIEH: Let's look at lead-free or leaded. Look at the
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WWO Ordinance. In the relevant section, there is a
British Standard highlighted. We don't know whether
it's updated anymore, but you can still see it in the
law, and at the same time they say we have to use the
latest British Standard.

If I am just a layman, if I see an obsolete BS,
I may think I can use it?

A. If you are a big company, then you have an edge.

Q. Why?

A. Because they know how to do research. In the 1990s --

CHAIRMAN: I think he understands.

MR SHIEH: He's someone from a small company.

A. When there is a new standard, some salesperson will come
to me to tell me. They will only go to big companies.
Well, we are not a big company, but we are known. So
whenever there is a new standard, salespersons will call
me and tell me about it and ask me to make some
purchase.

That's why some LPs know while others don't, because
we rely on salespersons to disseminate information.

MR SHIEH: So it depends on who you know, then?

CHAIRMAN: 1It's the WSD who issues the licence, who oversees
the water supply quality in Hong Kong.

MR SHIEH: But do you think this is an acceptable system?

There is one, that is a catch-all, which says you have
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to use the most updated version, and then at the same
time they say you have to use this BS obsolete standard.
What do you say on that?

A. There is room for improvement. Of course, when
something happens, it's about how to improve. Society
progresses. Systems are to be improved. And now we see
that some LPs can't catch up with the latest
information. Perhaps the WSD will have to do a bit
more. When there is a new standard, they will issue
more circulars to LPs and recognised authorised persons.

CHAIRMAN: No, not circulars, because I don't really believe
in things like that. Why don't you just change the
laws, stating clearly when it is to take effect, British
Standard, say, 1234, effective from which month of which
date, which year? That's it.

A. From the legislation that I have seen, it's never said
that a for a certain thing, a British Standard is to be
used.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, of course, by all means, you use the
circular as a supplementary tool. But you can state the
effective date. If you think the trade can't catch up,
give them a grace period of a year or two. Make it
clear, starting from this date, BS 1234 becomes obsolete
and you have to use BS 5678. Do you understand?

Apart from the WSD, I think there are BSEs or LPs
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who would read the WWO most often?
A. I have never opened the WWO. That is prior to this
incident.

For practitioners and stakeholders, it is very
important whether they keep abreast of the times. Say,
for example, there are some fresh grads joining my
company, I will teach them how to use the WSD website,
about the WWO, WWR, and also installation standards.

There is transparency in government departments.
They have uploaded all the different standards.

MR SHIEH: So is the BS, the British Standard uploaded?
Because it will cost you $1,000 to purchase the book.

A. Well, I am eager to learn. In the 1980s, I would wonder
what a BS is, and I found that I could not find the
information in a public library. Where can I find it?
In the polytechnic university and HKU library. At that
time, my brother was studying in the polytechnic, so
I asked him to borrow it and find a way to copy it.

So if you have someone studying in a university,
then you are lucky.

So there is very little understanding about the BS
amongst the public.

CHAIRMAN: Well, it's more important that the WSD has to
make sure that people know.

A. Yes, they do have to tell people what standard is to be
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used, but as to whether it is to be written into the
law, I have reservation. Because it's very cumbersome
to change the law.

CHAIRMAN: No, you are wrong. It's very simple to change
the regulation.

MR SHIEH: Yes, if it's a legislative amendment, you may
have to go to the LegCo.

CHAIRMAN: But Mr Lai told me that actually it's very easy
to change the law.

MR SHIEH: The crux of the problem is that there is
a catch-all saying that you have to use the most updated
British Standard. However, 1if there is the latest
British Standard issued tomorrow, strictly speaking, you
have to use the most up-to-date version. The WSD gives
you a grace period. It's because the WSD is aware that
the trade needs time to catch up. But strictly
speaking, people who don't use the most updated version
have broken the law. It's just discretion that they are
not caught.

So what do you say about that?

A. I haven't really talked to the WSD about this. If there
is a grey area, causing law-abiding citizens to
inadvertently break the law, I think there needs to be
clearer definition.

Q. So, sampling, I would like to ask you. Paragraph 39,

-B58 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

page 18990.

You said that when it comes to prior to water supply
connection, they will have to take water samples in the
connecting points, underground, and there were eight
parameters, and four added.

We have heard from a lot of people, from plumbing
subcontractors, from senior government officials, that
in the trade, that is in relation to plumbing, there is
this impression. Whether it's right or wrong is
a different thing.

The WSD, after examining water samples, would issue
a water certificate, 1005. But after this step, is the
impression of the trade that the Water Supplies
Department has already given you a clean bill of health,
that you have complied with the WWR? You are from the
trade; do you have this understanding-?

Let's leave aside whether this understanding is
right or not. The WSD said that it is to check the
quality of water sample, but did you know at that time
that the issuance of 1005 in effect means the WSD is
happy that the entire water supply system conforms with
the WWO?

A. At the very early stage, it's my understanding that the
WWO is to ensure that there is sufficient quality fresh

water supply in Hong Kong.
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In a meeting with the WSD, I remember it was as
early as 2009, I joined the Smart programme. I have
criticised some WSD officers, saying that the WWO was
very outdated; some of the provisions are in relation to
water rationing, but now we have Dongjiang water, these
provisions should be relaxed. I was told there were
such provisions in the WWO to ensure continuous supply
of quality fresh water in Hong Kong and to prevent
contamination of the water supply network. The WSD
people were staring at me when I first said that.

So when it comes to test -- well, to flush the
system is to prevent backflow of contaminated water.

CHAIRMAN: But when you take water sample, it's one at the
water connection point and the other one is to check
whether there is a backflow of contaminated water. The
other one is at the tap. But that is not to check
backflow; it's to check water connection.

A. At that time, we had many meetings with the WSD. And
the checking of the connection point would have to be
done before the occupation permit. We have to ensure
there's no contamination. If it's a big housing estate
with many units, you have to flush and clean all the
water. You have to buy water, because supply is not yet
provided. Well, you have to make sure the water in the

pipe is clean.
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So we had this understanding with the WSD. That is,
at the time when water supply is connected, the inside
service is clean, and the samples from the inside
service were taken after the issuance of 1005. So, at
that point, it's not for the purpose of prevention or
contamination but to ensure water quality and also to
ensure whether the plumbing contractor has cleansed and
flushed the water pipes properly.

Q. After 1005 is issued, then you have to have another
test, at the tap? It's not mandatory; it's not
a prerequisite or anything.

A. According to the Ordinance and the Regulations, we have
to flush and clean, and in 2012 the WSD issued
guidelines on how to flush and clean.

Q. It's because of Legionnaires' disease, you were
encouraged to do more.

A. And we were given instructions on how to flush the
pipes.

So the problem now lies with the inside service.
They have clear guidelines on how to clean it and how to
do the testing.

Q. I am not looking into the detailed purpose. You know
that before issuing 1005, the purpose of testing the
water sample for eight parameters is for the purpose of

prevention of cross-contamination. We all know, you
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Q.

know and I know. But before this incident, many people
in the trade had the impression that after testing for
the eight parameters, they would issue certificate 1005,
and that means, to them, they thought the waterworks
would be in compliance with the WSD and the law. That's
their impression. Right or wrong is another matter.

Did you know that? Did you have that impression?

You are asking me what they thought. I cannot say
anything that I cannot really prove.

Well, we will know. We will ask them.

CHAIRMAN: An expert is in a special position, in that you

MR

can offer your comments. You may talk about the
practices or the impression on the part of people in the
trade.
I have more contact with people who are knowledgeable.
For example, Mr Leung, Mr Wong and members of the trade
associations and people who attend the seminars, and who
have done a lot of site visits. These are the people
who are taking on new information all the time.

So I cannot really assume that they didn't know at
that time.
SHIEH: I have one more paragraph that I would like to

refer you to.

CHAIRMAN: Let's leave it to the afternoon.

(1.

06 pm)
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(The luncheon adjournment)

(2.32 pm)

MR SHIEH: Mr Kan, I would like to talk to you about two
subjects.

When you took the licence to be an LP, there was
a grade I and grade II. You sat for the grade I exam;
right?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you attend any course of instruction?

A. There was no such requirement, no requirement of course
attendance.

Q. Did you attend any course before taking the examination?

A. I didn't. I hadn't, in the first examination. But
I failed twice and then I realised it would be better to
attend a course first.

Q. There were two different grades and now we don't have
it, so the system is very difficult, although licensed
plumbers are still called licensed plumbers; do you
agree?

A. Yes.

Q. So, when you attended a course, you were taught to do
the soldering using solder sticks?

A. During those years, those who took the exam were mainly
in the job of jointing pipes.

Q. There was no practice, so you were assumed to know it?
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A.

In the 1970s, there was no question of lead-free or
leaded solder. The first time I took the examination
was in 1977. It was not an issue then.

Did you have a practical test?

No.

So you were not tested on soldering technique and your
instruction programme didn't say anything about that?
Well, the instruction was on the Waterworks Ordinance
and water installations, and also what to cover in the
submission for approval.

There were two parts in the examination. There
would be a plumbing proposal setting out the criteria at
the examination centre, and we had to design a line
diagram in accordance with the criteria. Then, after
passing this, there would be an interview. Inspectors
of the WSD would ask us questions about the Waterworks
Ordinance.

In other words, when you became an LP, there was no
course of instruction telling you how to use soldering
material, and there was no test on soldering technique.
But for you, before you took the examination to become
an LP, did you learn to solder?

Yes, I learned from people working on the site.

So you had to learn from a master. Did they use sticks?

They work for different companies. All of them used
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sticks.

Q. So it's a rod-like stick. 1Is it 50 per cent lead or
what?

A. We would buy large quantities of soldering sticks from
hardware stores, much bigger than those you see. Then,
after buying those, we would melt them and put them in
a container. Then we would use an angle bracket to
contain the melted solder.

Q. So the shape is determined by the L-shaped bracket?

A. Yes.

Q. The angled bracket would determine the shape?

A. Yes.

Q. In paragraph 38, you said that the workers in your
company said the training institute asked them to hold
the solder roll in hand in soldering work. So the
training institutes, according to your understanding,
taught them how to use lead-free solder. What
institutions are we talking about; CIC or VTC?

A. It's under IVE. After the year 2000, there were
apprenticeship schemes, and we would sign three-year
contracts with apprentices. We paid them an allowance
and also trained them, so that we could get a regular
supply of workers.

On the other hand, we learned from the catalogues

with photos and illustrations, on how to use the

-65-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

lead-free solder.

Q. Let's pause here. I'm talking about training
institutions. Where did they come from, those trainees?

A. IVE.

Q. Now I would like to move on to the last subject, last
topic. 1It's paragraph 49 of your report. You have some
suggestions for the instruction programmes for the
licensing of plumbers. Paragraph 49, you want to
propose training courses leading to the award of
licensed plumber status. At present, mainly we have
VTC; in training the licensed plumbers, mainly it's VTC.
Of course, there are other channels. Equivalent
qualifications are also recognised. If a young person
wants to become a licensed plumber, the first choice is
to go to VTC, and also IVE, there are similar
programmes?

A. For gaining recognition, for government, you have to
attend the three-year course offered by IVE. There's
only one such course.

Q. In paragraph 49, the last five lines, you mentioned the
Technological and Higher Education Institute of
Hong Kong introduced a professional diploma course
equivalent to level 5 of the qualification framework, in
2015.

So are you proposing that this qualification be
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recognised?
A. After they have completed the course, we intend to ask

Q.

the WSD to recognise the qualification.

But whether it would be recognised would depend on what
contents are covered in the training, and it would take
the government to recognise this qualification as one
that would be accepted under the law, because there is
provision on the recognition of equivalent
qualifications, and that is the authority for dealing
with LP will have to make a decision on that, and that
is WSD. Even without amendment of the law, the WSD can
recognise this qualification as equivalent?

Yes, that's what we are trying to ask them to do.
Lastly, in paragraph 50, you offer some comments on the
HKUST article.

After receiving the article, I did call the workers
doing the installation in the university and asked them
whether they heard about this during their work there,
and they said no.

Let's look at the article. It's page 18996.

CHAIRMAN: What's the relevance? It's not really relevant

to our hearing.

MR SHIEH: Not really, but it seems like the expert is

trying to offer some clarifications.

All right, he has clarified the situation with the
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institute, but in this article, there are other points
raised. For example, "tilted towards the motherland" is
one assertion, and of course we are not using mainland
solder.

Please take a look at this article. In the middle
part, paragraph 4, it says:

"Hong Kong has a strange system: although we
regulate the use of leaded pipes, but there's no need to
report the content of soldering material. The most
important thing is that in the acceptance tests, they
only test for acidity and alkalines or toxins, but not
heavy metals."

So it's a rather harsh criticism. What's your
response to this?

The writer said the system in Hong Kong was strange.
There were regulation, but acceptance test does not
cover certain things and no information on certain
matters has to be submitted.

A. If you think about it, it's really strange. All along,
we have been depending on the trade and the co-operation
of the trade, from procurement to delivery to site. So
it was strange that we still had an incidence like this.

MR SHIEH: I have no more questions.

CHAIRMAN: Would anyone else like to raise questions? The

Housing Department first.
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Cross—-examination by MR HO

MR HO: Mr Kan, no offence -- can you confirm that you have
not undertaken any Housing Department projects?

A. No.

Q. Not since you have become a licensed plumber?

A. No.

Q. Have you done any HA projects?

A. No, I have not formally undertaken any HA projects.

Q. Why do you say "formally"?

A. My company has not undertaken such projects, but I have
learned from members of my association that there were
such requirements imposed by the Housing Department.

Q. Have you been awarded a project from the government, say
for example the ASD?

A. Yes.

Q. Please -- well, I don't mean to offend -- there are four
major contractors, main contractors, involved in this
Inquiry. Have you been awarded any contracts by these
contractors? Perhaps you can name the four contractors.

A. I have got nothing from Yau Lee.

Q. China State, Yau Lee, Paul Y and Shui On?

A. Many years ago, I have got a subcontract from Shui On,
but as far as I know, I don't have any direct
involvement. China State, no. Paul Y, no.

Q. In your evidence-in-chief, you have been asked about
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paragraph 8, by counsel for the Commission. In
paragraph 8, you talk about HA projects, public housing
estate projects. The nominated subcontractor is in
relation to air-conditioning and fire services, but when
it comes to plumbing, it's not.

So apart from HA projects, say ASD projects, would
that be the same arrangement?

A. Prior to 2014, that was the arrangement. In January
2014, there was a gazettal saying that for public works
projects, there should be a nominated contractor.

Q. For HA projects, say fire services or pump systems,
there is a nominated contractor. There is a dedicated
subcontractor dealing with items, say for example fire
service installations and pump stations.

Do you object to this arrangement?

A. No.

Q. After this arrangement, assuming that if your company
offers an acceptable price and you are awarded a project
by the HA, you as an LP -- would you think that since
you are not the nominated contractor, your
responsibilities vis—-a-vis other private projects is
smaller?

A. No, I won't think that. As an LP, the main
responsibility is to ensure that the materials to be

used comply with the WWO, the WSD's requirements. When
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it comes to photovoltaic panels installation, there is
no such requirements.

Q. So you would agree that as a professional LP, you do
value the licence, regardless of the size and complexity
of the project? As long as you are working as an LP,
you would have the same sense of responsibility?

A. Right. I act in accordance with the legislation.

Q. Let me explore this point with you. The counsel for the
Commission said that officially there is the WSD,

a government department, and also the Housing Authority,
which is a statutory body. The Housing Department may

be involved as well. He said that these two departments
have their respective schedules to check the materials.

A. Yes.

Q. It's WWO46, annex 1. In relation to the WSD, you will
find the parts thereon. For the HD, you said you don't
know very well about the arrangement. But we know that
the HD has their own list.

Counsel asked you whether you think that in the
vetting of the two lists, both parties might have missed
the opportunity to find whether there is any problems of
possible use of leaded material. The counsel asked you
whether the chance has been missed.

A. T agree.

Q. You said that even without the material list or
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schedule, had the people on the site been responsible
and performed their duties properly, they would have
made sure that compliant materials were used?

A. As I said, for other projects, I would even submit
samples of screws. Everything should be done properly.

Q. Whether it's a subcontractor or a licensed plumber, if
they have performed their duties, they would be able to
make sure that compliant materials are used?

A. Right.

Q. Even if there was no such mechanism to do that, there
was a mechanism to check when materials are delivered,
the delivery note. 1In relation to a plumbing
subcontractor, when there was a delivery, who would the
delivery note be sent to? The main contractor?

A. Yes.

Q. So the main contractor will be able to pick up any
irregularities?

A. Right.

Q. So, in a project like this -- so there is more than one
stakeholder. It's not just them, the government
department. There are many stakeholders in a project?

A. Right.

Q. That includes the main contractor?

A. Yes.

Q. Just now, you were asked, if everything had to be
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checked, it's not really feasible; it's not really
feasible to check everything. That's in your opinion;
right?

A. I think it's a matter of cost. It's a cost
consideration. If everything is to be checked, you will
have to have proper record to show that that's already
been checked. That involves people who are responsible
for filing, for preparing reports. So should minute
details be covered as well? That may be quite tedious.

Apart from government housing projects, there is
a huge share of housing projects in the private sector.
Everything comes from the same party. If that is to be
done, then costs would be shifted onto -- would be
reflected in the prices of properties.

Q. Whether it's a statutory requirement, you, as a licensed
plumber, are the one at the forefront, who has to make
sure that materials comply with legal requirements.
Well, you are a licensed plumber. You are
a subcontractor. You are the owner of a company. But
there may be licensed plumbers who are simply employees.
Would there be a system?

A. Every subcontractor should act in accordance with the
contractual requirements and the law.

Q. So there is the main contractor, and above there is the

developer; do you mean that?
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A.

Yes. Every stakeholder should bear their own
responsibility.
So, by duplication, you mean of course the frontline
party would have to make sure that materials comply with
the law and the contract requirements. It may be
supervisor, then the supervisor supervises that, and
that would be the main contractor. And above that, that
would be the developer. The developer would be the
supervisor of the supervisor of the supervisor.

You said a duplication. You would not think that
the top-most supervisor should oversee everything?
But as I said, apart from inspections, we have to do
lots of documentation.
By "we", you mean licensed plumbers?
Yes. Say there's a requirement for copper pipes, we
have to make submissions showing that it meets certain
standards. We have to document our materials. And if
there is supervision and monitoring, there would be some
measures. So 1s it the case that every single item
would have to be regulated?
"Main material", what do you mean?
Material related to the structure. Everything is
regulated. Say, for example, cement, steel bars, but
not the wire or the earthing, the earthing wire. But

it's related to the earthing wire.
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Q.

A.

Should that be regulated as well?

But when the earthing wire is delivered, someone will
know.

You said that's why there needs to be public education?
Right.

You said that it will not be feasible to check every
single thing and every single layer, so public education
is important?

Well, there are different stakeholders: The main
contractor, residents, engineers, representatives of the
building services companies. There will be irregular
inspections on different floors.

So you actually see the work of workers. If you are
familiar with the project and if you have the
catalogues, then one look suffices; you will know
whether the work being done is compliant.

Prior to the incident, you have been in this trade for
a very long time, yet you were not particularly
concerned about lead in solder material.

You know that leaded material should not be used in
soldering materials?

Right, but I have not actually thought anything to it.
Well, whether lead affects water quality and whether it
affects health, you think there should be enhanced

public education?

-75-

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

A. Well, if you talk about lead in water, you are not
talking about engineering anymore. We need to tell
stakeholders what materials are compliant materials.
But we don't need to teach them the details as to the
content of lead allowed. We should tell them that as of
a certain date, leaded materials should be banned.

Q. We all know that these materials should not be used?

A. In many interviews given, after the incident, I said so,
and I have been criticised by workers that they have
been doing this. They insist that what they were doing
there is correct. And some people told me that it's
okay, it's British-made solder. I said, well,

99 per cent of those materials will be problematic, if
you are talking about British-made solder.

MR HO: I have no further questions.

Cross-examination by MS LAM
(Questioning in English)

MS LAM: I represent China State. I will be asking you
a few gquestions in English.

CHAIRMAN: You understand the question? You don't need to
have the headset.

You can use the headset for interpretation. It's up
to you.

MS LAM: Mr Kan, we know that you are very, very familiar

with the form WWO46, and we know, under part 1, that is
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to be filled in by the licensed plumber. There is
an annex that shows details of all the pipes and
fittings intended to be installed; right?

A. Yes.

Q. I would like to ask, in your experience, as a matter of
trade practice, is it common for plumbing materials
eventually used on site to be different to those listed
in the original annex that was submitted under part 1°?

A. In the trade, after the submission, after the approval
is granted by the WSD, and also the owner, the
supervisors have all given the approval, the licensed
plumber would not use anything other than those, because
if you use other materials, the owners would fail to --
could decide not to accept the completed works, and you
have to dismantle everything. I don't think any
contractor would like to shoulder this kind of
responsibility.

Q. So my question is, if for one reason or another,

a change of materials was required, whether because of
the works or whatever, then what would be the procedure-?

A. I can give you a real example to illustrate. In 2006,

I was involved in an MTR property development. There
are many phases. I was responsible for the underground
main pipe. It's as big as 600 millimetres in diameter.

The construction period was three and a half years.
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After being awarded the contract, we submitted all the
materials for approval. After the approval, we
submitted the WWO46 to the WSD, and subsequently got its
approval. Then we started to procure materials.

The materials were only delivered two years later,
so when it was time for us to really dig up the road for
laying of the mains, the supplier told us that the
manufacturer was no longer making those, so I needed to
change the materials to be used.

There was a contract with the supplier, so we
referred to the contract, and we told the supplier to
issue a letter, to certify that the materials were no
longer available. Then I informed the stakeholders and
the main contractor that this had happened. So we would
then propose equivalent materials with different brands,
which were also approved by WSD.

Q. Just pausing there; when you say has been "approved by
the WSD", do you mean it is one of the items that is
already on the list of approved materials which you can
find on the WSD's website?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you. Please continue?

A. After getting the agreement of the owner for the change
of materials, then we would ask the supplier to provide

the spec and also to show that those materials reviewed
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the latest BS, and the information was given to the
owner for approval. And also it would be given to the
WSD and then we would amend the annex to the form,
setting out the new materials to be used.

Usually, the WSD would be able to give us approval
within ten days.

CHAIRMAN: It happens, but not very often, I suppose?

A. Not very often. I use this example because in that
project, I used different valves. There were changes in
two exercises, and I was informed that for a particular
brand, the manufacturer had stopped. Then I switched to
brand B, and by the time I placed an order, because it
was a new production line, I was not able to get
sufficient number. Then I had to switch to C later.

MS LAM: So the responsibility for submitting an updated
annex would fall on the licensed plumber; is that
correct?

A. Yes. It's the work of the LP.

Q. As a matter of practice, after you submit the revised
annex, what happens next? Would you then expect either
a verbal or written approval from the WSD?

A. If something is suddenly out of stock, something that is
not commonly used, the pipes we use are of smaller
diameters. Very rarely would they be more than 150 mm.

So, in the example, it was 400, 600 mm pipes.

-79 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

Usually, there's no stock in Hong Kong. We have to
place an order for import. So, once the owner gives the
approval, we would place an order, and we have to make
sure that the material is in the list of the WSD.

Since we use the listed material, it won't be
rejected.

Q. In other words, if it is already on the WSD's approved
list of materials, you would expect WSD to have no
problems with the proposed change; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Sorry, my question before was: would you then expect the
WSD to formally inform you, whether in writing or
orally, that, yes, your proposed change of material is
fine?

A. After the WSD has received our notification, it would
certainly reply in writing. For the completion report,
the department would refer to the latest updated annex
for inspection.

MS LAM: Thank you very much.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Li, at the back.

Cross—-examination by MR LI

MR LI: I represent Yau Lee. I want to ask you some
questions.

This morning, Mr Shieh asked you about your

procurement orders placed with Prosperity. For how many
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years have you been dealing with Prosperity? When did
you start?

A. From my memory, it's over ten years.

Q. So it's 2005-06 that you started to have business
dealings with them?

A. We also purchased sundry items from Wo Hing. There is
an account executive of Wo Hing who used to deal with
our business, and then later on he went over to work for
Prosperity. Since the prices were basically the same,
and the service he gave was okay, so we placed orders
with him.

Q. So it was this Mr Cheung in Prosperity who handled your
orders?

A. Well, later he also changed jobs, and then he sold
valves instead of sundry items.

Q. So you placed your orders with Prosperity. You would
say you need lead-free solder wire?

A. Usually, it's in writing. We would place an order by
fax or -- we used to use fax. Now it's mainly through
WhatsApp. We would WhatsApp Prosperity on what we need.

Q. Did you use the telephone to place orders in the early
days?

A. Yes, occasionally. Usually, it will be the site foreman
who requires something urgent, something suddenly is in

short supply, and then he would call the supplier. But
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the procurement is mainly done by the main office.

Q. When it comes to procurement of soldering wire, would
you buy both sticks and wire for soldering at the same
time?

A. We started to use paste and solder sticks in 1994, and
we found that to be satisfactory. In the past, we used
flux and solder sticks, but we need to melt the solder
sticks; a lot of preparation was needed before use, and
the flux has disadvantage. The flux will not enable the
solder to enter the joint quickly. But for the paste
and wire, it was easy, as demonstrated by the salesman.

Q. So, in 1994, you found the solder wire very convenient?

A. Yes. No need to melt the stick.

Q. Is the one before you used in a similar way?

A. Actually, it's this one. (Indicating).

Q. So you have been using this for many years?

A. Yes.
Q. If it's in a coil -- we have only got this solder
wire —-- are we talking about the same solder wire?

A. I'm not sure how many brands were available, but when
the salesperson introduced this product, it was this
one.

Q. Did you have any personal experience or your staff have
some experience that in communicating with Prosperity,

Prosperity would know what you are going to use the
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solder wire or soldering stick for?

A. They only buy one product.

CHAIRMAN: The question was asked this morning.

MR LI: Did they know the purpose or the use of the solder
wire?

A. Yes. After the contract was awarded, we would do the
submission, and we will ask the supplier to provide
samples. I've got some photos with me. We have
a sample board, and the supplier had to provide the
material. We would enter into a contract with the
supplier. We would also inform the supplier the
specifications. The information would be sent to the
supplier, by fax, WhatsApp or email.

Q. That would include the soldering material for drinking
water pipes?

A. If it's specifically written in the contract, then yes,
it would be submitted. In the past, there was no
specific mention of that in the contract. Well, there
are more such occasions in recent years. Not as much as
before that. But we would tell the hardware store, say,
for example, what type of bracket -- what type, say for
example the specifications of the actual material, size
of the screws, the materials of the screws; we will tell
them.

Q. Well, you tell them that it is for fresh water supply,
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then they would know?
A. Right.
Cross-examination by MR LEE
MR LEE: If the question has already been asked, please let
me know, because I wasn't here this morning.
I represent the victims.
CHAIRMAN: I don't think you can do that because I would be
doing your job.
MR LEE: I thought you would just stop me.
CHAIRMAN: Yes, of course I am perfectly able to stop you.
MR LEE: I only ask you to do something you love to do!
First, some awkward questions. You are here as
an expert. Who contacted you in the WSD?
A. There is an engineer telling me that the WSD -- no, the
first phone call was the assistant director.
Q. What is the name?
A. Lam Ching Man.
Q. You are very familiar with this assistant director?
A. As I said, in 2009, I attended WSD meetings, and usually
they were attended by assistant directors or directors.
Q. So the first contact made was to ask you to be
an expert?
A. Yes. It was said verbally that they intended to ask me
to be an expert, asked me if I would turn them down.

I said, 1if necessary, I would be an expert.
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Q. Did they tell you more or less what you would be saying?

A. They told me that I would be talking about the operation
of the trade, and comments on the licensed workers.

Q. Is that all?

A. The procedures that we have to do under the Ordinance,
say 46, how it's filled in, what we do when it comes to
an amendment, to explain whether it can be amended.

Q. You have covered a lot in your statement. Did they tell
you beforehand that they would like you to give expert
opinion on these areas?

A. The time when the scope was given to me was in December,
when I was sent a letter by the D of J, to ask me to
make a statement. I was in close liaison with the WSD.
With the excess lead in water incident in July last
year, the government wanted to group together
representatives of different areas, to give advice to
the WSD. We have given a lot of comments on many
different areas.

Perhaps they thought that I have done a lot of
interviews and they have seen them, and they thought
I could speak as a representative of LPs.

Q. But you were interviewed by a journalist?

A. Yes.

Q. Why?

A. No specific purpose. It was the beginning of July, when
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the incident was full-blown. On 8 July, I arranged

a meeting with Ko Chan Gock, Professor. He was

a convenor of the five associations. He was the former
director of the WSD, and the convenor will call
different parties to talk about various areas, say for
example public education or publicity.

Q. But what was the purpose?

A. The meeting was to ask the different parties to think
about why there would be such an incident, after having
read the report, and how we should respond when we are
asked questions.

As you know, as I said this morning, there are
different stakeholders amongst the LPs. As the chairman
said, some would say they don't know English, and some
say Joe Ku will publish technical articles, say for
example, in writing about the use of the latest
technologies overseas for the different institutes and
associations to read. There are representatives from
labour unions, from chambers of commerce, from
institutes.

So we got together to talk about the line to take
and how to answer questions. They found that I started
to work in this trade, in a construction site at the age
of 15, and I am in such a position and I could actually

answer everything.
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So the five associations appointed me to be their
spokesman.

Q. So were you the spokesman for the trade?

A. At that time, yes.

Q. "The trade" meaning LPs?

A. That's included.

Q. What else?

A. There are five associations. Let me tell you about the
five associations. That is the Chartered Institute of
Plumbing and Heating Engineering, Hong Kong branch; the
Hong Kong Plumbing and Sanitary Ware Trade Association
Ltd; Hong Kong Institution of Plumbing and Drainage Ltd;
Hong Kong Licensed Plumbing Professionals Association
Ltd and Hong Kong Waterworks Professionals Association
Ltd.

Q. Are they the same or similar to the work of licensed
plumbers?

A. Related but not similar.

Q. Corresponding, or on the opposing side?

A. What do you mean?

Q. That means there is conflict of interest in relation to
the five associations.

A. That depends on your angle.

Q. Well, at the very beginning, the government has put the

blame on licensed plumbers; you know that, right?
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A. I do.
Q. 1Is that one of the reasons or one of the major reasons

why they got you to come out to speak?
I don't think so. On the first day when I was
interviewed by reporters, I was asked whether I agreed
that the WSD and licensed plumbers are responsible, and
I agreed, because we represent the site to liaise with
the WSD, and we are asked to install plumbing systems.
So we can't shirk the responsibility or dodge it.
So, when the government pointed the blame to licensed
plumbers, you think it's right?
It's not really that. I do agree the viewpoint that
an LP has responsibilities to bear.
Does it mean that you have to be responsible for the
excess lead in water incident?
Well, the licensed plumber has to bear a legal
responsibility.
You do think so.

You have done projects in relation to plumbing for
XRL and now West Kowloon. They are major projects?
Not that big. I think it depends on how you define it.
Say, for the XRL project, it's 1.4 metres -- to relocate
a l.4-metre pipe. Normally, people don't know about the
requirements and specifications. We have to take into

account the WWO and the WWR. There is also the main
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laying handbook of the WSD.

Q. This handbook, can you tell me the name again?

A. Main laying handbook.

Q. M-a-i-n?

A. Yes. It says the waterworks main -- it's a manual for
the laying of this pipe. You will have to know about
the requirements before you know what to do. Not many
plumbers know about this. Well, I have dabbled in
different areas, so I was willing to take that up.

Q. So did you have to submit a tender, to win it?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. So were you invited to submit a tender?

A. Yes.

Q. How many were invited?

A. They wouldn't tell me. But basically, main contractors
will not just find one person to give a quotation to do
the job.

Q. So you have to do a lot of detailed work, preparation,
and submit the tender?

A. Yes.

Q. What about West Kowloon?

A. Sorry, what do you mean by "major"? For the 823, my
project is only 4 million. That's for the XRL project.

Q. You said "only 4 million", so you do think that

$4 million is a small sum?
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A. Well, we use the contract sum to define the scale.

I think it's small. Even for West Kowloon, for the
plumbing contract, it's 29 million, and in my eyes it is
not big, because for a Housing project, that would be at
least 80 million, so how can you say it's a big one?

How do you define "big"?

Q. What about you?

A. I don't think that's a big project. There is a certain
degree of complexity, and some representativeness.

Q. Are you top-notch of this in your trade?

A. I don't think so.

Q. Not many people would know what to do.

A. I might have read a lot of books.

Q. For general licensed plumbers, you say some of them
don't even know English. They wouldn't dare to submit
a tender for these big projects. You can't talk about
everyone, paint all of them with the same brush.

A. But some of them don't even know English. Main
contractors, some of them will recruit their own BSE,
licensed plumbers, and they would contract out the work
to some smaller companies.

Q. What about re-plumbing? That means those that you do
personally was just on a day rate. So whether you are
a boss or you are an employee, you are still an LP, but

there's a big difference. For those who are receiving

-90-
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

A.

a daily rate, how much would they earn?

In my statement, it says that a real licensed plumber
working on a daily basis, receiving a daily rate, is
rare, because if you have got the qualification, there
are two groups of people: members of the institute,
supervisors. They are recruited by consulting
engineering companies, working in supervision.

For those who are sole proprietors, they may have
their own plumbing companies, taking up business from
the general public or in housing estates. They may
employ workers.

For those that are working on their own, with no
employees receiving a daily rate, I don't think there
are many.

But there is grandfathering. You didn't have to
actually train in a course at the very beginning.

I wouldn't say that. I learned in 1972, and at the time
when I joined the trade I was aware that a lot of
plumbing companies, they were licensed plumbers.

I really don't know what you mean.

Well, for large companies, they have their own big
company, for smaller scale, they have their own shop.
That was the case. But what about now?

Licensed plumbers, nowadays, if they are determined to

learn after they've got the qualification as licensed
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plumbers, they will, on a small scale, be
a subcontractor or work in a large plumbing company or
in a large company, to be part of the management.

In the 1980s, Hongkong Electric, MTR and China Light
& Power and big organisations such as HKU and CUHK would
employ licensed plumbers for day-to-day maintenance
work.

So these licensed plumbers didn't want to do the job
as workers all the time.

Q. You have already been asked whether the licensed
plumbers should do the job themselves. For those
running a small shop, doing repair and maintenance for
the residents nearby, how much can he earn a month?

A. I have no idea.

Q. What about the big ones?

A. I only know the amount of contract we can handle daily
in my company. As contractors, we need to be equipped
with a number of competencies. Apart the skill set, we
need to have other conditions met, to support the
carrying out of the contract. For example, we had to
handle the interim payments, we had to buy the materials
and then apply for payment or reimbursement later.

Q. You know, in Hong Kong, the construction industry is
a system with contractors, subcontractors and

sub-subcontractors. One can never tell the number of
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layers of subcontracting involved?

A. Well, my company, Merry China, was set up in 1995. We
are entering our 21st year. When did we start to
subcontract some of our works? Well, we did it the
first time in 2008. It was a contract for manpower
only. We purchased everything, down to the bolts and
nuts.

The second outsourced contract was done in 2010. So
it was not common.

Q. So you have said you have just done it twice. You
rarely subcontract work to other subcontractors?

CHAIRMAN: You don't have to ask him such questions.

MR LEE: I am talking about the bottom layer of
subcontractor. If a job is given to him, he may just
get a meagre sum, at the very bottom of the chain.

A. You can say that. If you are a subcontractor with the
necessary skills and knowledge, you would be able to
make the calculations to see if there's a profit to be
made.

I set up my company, Hugo Engineering Company.
I undertook a contract for a big project.

Q. Well, you are successful. Don't be shy. What about
those less successful? They have to make a living.
They are unsuccessful people. Maybe you can call them

failures. They will save whatever they can, in terms of
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the use of material; would you agree?

CHAIRMAN: Mr Lee, I think you should ask questions in

context.

We have heard so much, throughout the Ingquiry, so
I accept that in certain projects, projects that we need
to discuss, as you have said, have works undertaken by
sub-subcontractors. But if you look at the level of the
licensed plumber, actually only three licensed plumbers
are involved: Ng Hak Ming worked for Ming Hop and
Yau Lee. Cheung Tat Yam is a proprietor. Lam Tak Sum,
we know him, so no need to repeat.

So these three licensed plumbers -- and your
questions are not really relevant here.

MR LEE: But the third item of your terms of reference is
about the entire Hong Kong. It's not just about these
three licensed plumbers.

CHAIRMAN: You are asking questions about licensed plumbers.
Of course there are successful licensed plumbers and not
so successful licensed plumbers. Mr Ho Man Piu said, in
Ho Biu Kee, there are a number of licensed plumbers who
are actually doing the job of skilled workers.

MR LEE: I can change to another topic. I can change the
topic.

You said on two occasions you outsourced the work to

a subcontractor, and you purchased everything, down to
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the screws, bolts and nuts. So, if the subcontractor
employs someone to help him and he also works himself,
the materials would not be purchased by the
subcontractor.

If the subcontractor gives the workers leaded
solder, what would happen?

CHAIRMAN: Then the workers would use the leaded solder.

MR LEE: He is saying that the workers should inform the
government.

A. Those who are really doing the installation and the work
are not the licensed plumbers. They may be registered
plumbing workers, I mean registered with the
Construction Industry Council. They may be skilled
workers in plumbing work or semi-skilled workers. They
might not have been trained to learn about the
Waterworks Regulations and installations. They would
assume that whatever the foreman gives them would be
materials approved by the site.

As I have said, the contractor would have to
shoulder the responsibility. If something has to be
dismantled after completion, the costs of soldering
material is just 0.2 per cent of the contract sum. For
a contract worth $10 million, I would spend 20,000 on
soldering material. When we are awarded a contract or

when we enter a bid, then you have to attend
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an interview. The government -- the Housing Department
would ask you to reduce your quoted price. But in the
private sector, from the first interview to the last
interview, you have to reduce the tender price a number
of times.

Q. That's precisely because of the reduction in the quoted
price. You have to find ways to achieve savings
elsewhere.

CHAIRMAN: I think the question should be phrased like this.
We know one or two plumbing subcontractors, after taking
on such jobs from the Housing Department, then for each
unit, they are supposed to cover everything -- soldering
material, and so on. Basically, they are paid on
a per-unit basis. Say $3,000 per unit. You don't cover
anything on the ceiling, on the external wall.
Everything inside the flat is covered, including the
solder material, sundry metal items. For Kai Ching
Estate, the contract is $52 million. Let's assume that
it's 50-something, $50-odd million, and when it's time
to pay the sub-subcontractor, he only gets $3,000 per
flat, per unit, and one man said that earned nothing
after completion.

Of course, Mr Ho Man Piu would not care for such
meagre amounts. It's nothing to him. It's just

a little bit of saving. But we heard from a man who is
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now working as a plumbing worker. He carried out
a subcontract project, and ended up earning nothing.

To you, maybe the sum is not something that you need
to achieve in saving. But you know Housing Department
projects would be awarded during different phases of the
economic cycle. Sometimes you would not just accept
contracts at cost or sometimes below cost, at a loss;
and you have no choice.

A. Thank you, Chairman. As a responsible contractor, do we
accept a contract that would incur a loss? Yes. But we
would still insist on doing the right thing.

I was also a sub-subcontractor once. It was in
1995. I took up six contracts in the airport, including
the ground transportation centre and the Tung Chung MTR
station. I was not the main contractor for the
Tung Chung MTR; I was a subcontractor to an E&M
contractor. I took up the plumbing part. All the main
equipment, the pumps, the circuit boards, and so on and
so forth, and the meters, were supplied to me. I was
only responsible for the pipes and sundry items. The
contract sum was $2.8 million, and I ended up losing
$800,000, in terms of material, not counting manpower.
It was tough, but I insisted on complying with the
contract, and the Waterworks Ordinance.

There were arguments with the owner. The owner was
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MTR Corporation. The MTR said that they would not check
the underground pipes, or there was no inspection needed
for the underground pipes. I said I would then have to
inform the WSD.

I was somewhat tricked by the MTR. I lost $800,000.
After work was completed, one day an engineer from the

MTRCL thanked me for insisting on making the pipes

available for inspection. I have heard -- I don't know
whether it's real -- afterwards that the main laying
equipment -- the main laying contract undertaken by
Shui On -- they covered the pipes. They did cover the

pipes. Then WSD found out and the pipes would have to
be dug out, costing millions.
So that's why the MTRCL engineer thanked me for
that.
So the contract sum is irrelevant, as far as
complying with the rules and regulations is concerned.
Q. I must say I appreciate your conscience. You would
insist on doing the right thing, even though it's going
to make a loss. You are therefore a successful PL.
What about those who are not as successful as you?
CHAIRMAN: 1It's just common sense. These people would be
facing economic pressure. The question is how much
economic pressure can one withstand.

MR LEE: To put it in a general term, in this trade, you
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A.

A.

can't say everyone 1is successful; right?

I am an unsuccessful example. I think it's whether you
insist or not. In the year 2000, I was nicknamed "poor
licensed plumbers", because I suffered losses in all the
projects and I don't have a penny to my name.

But in the end, you were quite successful. You are
successful. I congratulate you.

Let me ask you some other questions. This excess
lead in water, it was discovered in July last year.
Were you surprised?

I was a bit surprised.

Because you did not think there would be any problems?
I thought that there was one estate that was affected,
and I assume the majority of people are law-abiding.
That's why the associations sat down to talk about
safeguarding the image of licensed plumbers, for Jjust
a few people who are unscrupulous, I mean vis-a-vis that
incident.

You think that licensed plumbers in general are
law—-abiding, and you wanted to disseminate the message
to the public that not all licensed plumbers are like
that. That's why you were interviewed by the press.

In 2000, you said you knew leaded solder material
was not to be used. But did you know why?

I did not look into that. We work in accordance with
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the requirements under the WWR, and the catalogue
supplied by the supplier says that it is BS EN 1057,
then lead-free material has to be used.

Q. So, when you read the catalogue, did you know there were
leaded materials in the market?

A. I knew when I joined the trade. It's just your
selection of material. In 1994, material used by the
company was changed, and I did not give it any thought,
as to why there was a change, because I had used it for
many years.

Q. When did you join the trade-?

A. I was an apprentice in 1972, in fire services
installation, and then I changed to a different company.

Q. So in which year did you actually join the trade?

A. You mean plumbing? Well, 1973.

Q. You said in 1994 there was a change -- change of
soldering material?

A. Change to this soldering material.

Q. What about before that?

A. Well, solder sticks were bought.

Q. Prior to that, it was still leaded, and then it was
later changed to lead-free?

A. It's not because it was leaded that the material was
changed. As I said this morning, I found that this

solder material is really good, because it didn't take
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much skill or training. Let me say that Mr Lee or
perhaps a teenager would be able to learn if I teach him
for half an hour.

Q. I think I would need longer!

So you find that this lead-free material is very

good to use?

A. Yes.

MR SHIEH: This morning, we did not ask about the solder
material, that is at the solder ring, whether it was
leaded or not, prior to 1994.

MR LEE: Thank you.

In 1994, for some reason, the material was changed.
CHAIRMAN: It's not "for some reason". The reason is known.
MR LEE: You knew that lead-free material was not to be

used?

CHAIRMAN: Don't ask. Don't go there, please.

MR SHIEH: (Chinese spoken) .

MR LEE: You talked about public education. When you spoke
to your fellow tradesmen, some criticised you?

A. Yes.

Q. Why? They thought leaded material was better?

A. I have no idea why they said that. I said if you were
not trained the proper way -- some workers were trained
in IVE, CIC, but there are some that are not trained

properly. They join the trade, they follow a master in
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a plumbing company and they just follow what the master
does.

Q. So, if the master uses leaded material, then that would
be used?

A. No one would be told the difference between leaded and
non-leaded soldering material. The most important thing
is whether it's easy to use. I think it's better to
actually see it at the site, the difference between
leaded and lead-free material. When I joined the trade
in 1972, with my own eyes I do see that leaded solder
material is not easy to use, because it's a thick stick.
We work in a confined space. It's just about
22 millimetres or 28 mm. If you carry out a thick
stick, a lot of it will drip onto the floor.

CHAIRMAN: Thick -- you talk about the earlier ones?

A. Thicker than the lead-free wire (indicating).

CHAIRMAN: That's not that thick.

A. In the early days, it's very thick. If you buy
50 per cent lead, it's very thick, thicker than this.

CHAIRMAN: This is 50 per cent lead.

A. Is it? DNo, it's not. I have never bought it before.

I have never seen it. From photographs, it seemed to be
like a bar.

CHAIRMAN: No, this is 50 per cent lead.

A. I have only seen it in photographs. I have never

-102 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 58

MR

seen it.

LEE: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: We are not trying to sell it. Your experience is

MR

that leaded stick is difficult to use, but as far as we
know, they have been purchased in bulk for Kai Ching and
some other housing estates. So it's not as difficult to
use as you imagine. And they have improved too.

LEE: So you now understand why they criticise you, some
other licensed plumbers, because they think it's easy to
use?

Some think it's easy to use. Well, horses for courses.
When I started the company, to now, I have employed

a lot of workers. They don't just work for me; they
work in other sites. After the incident, I have been
told off a lot, saying I was talking out of my head.

I have been asking my workers, my workers working
outside, whether leaded material is easier to use, but
all of them said no.

After the Chinese New Year, I arranged with the WSD
for a partial inspection of concealed pipes at Queen
Mary Hospital project. I did not ask my workers to stop
working. There were three Waterworks inspectors. They
stopped and watched whenever they saw soldering being
done, and they asked a lot of questions.

The impression I got was there were about six or
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seven soldering parts hung on the ceiling, and it only
took six to seven minutes to complete the process. The
press said, for lead-free, it will take so many minutes;
leaded, so many minutes. But I don't think that is the
case. I watched my workers.

Q. But surely leaded is cheaper?

CHAIRMAN: No need to ask this question.

MR LEE: But you know; right?

A. I did not look into it. Since I have confirmed that
this is easier to use and it conforms with the WWO, why
would I not use it?

Q. So even when the compliant material is much more
expensive, you still use it?

A. Of course. As I said, in plumbing works, I will submit
even when it's just one small screw. A reporter has
come to my company, and I have a warehouse that is over
1,000 square feet big, and they stumble upon a screw,
and you see it's been stamped with a brand.

Q. Then why do you think people would criticise you?

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, I have to stop you because it's nothing to
do with his expertise.

MR LEE: With the Queen Mary project, who were they?

A. Waterworks inspectors. I did a partial inspection.
There were three floors, and it's something in relation

to some work.
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Q. Prior to July last year, have you seen so many people
watching the work process?

A. Sometimes one, sometimes two, and there has been three.

CHAIRMAN: What about inspectors from the WSD, watching you
work?

A. No, just for inspection. It was part for partial
completion. I told them that there would be three
floors, that the top layer will be laid. So they need
to have an inspection. So it's an interim inspection.
That is before the plastering is done.

MR LEE: In the past, when you were doing soldering work,
they never sent anyone to watch you?

A. Let me clarify. I did not ask them to come to watch
soldering. I asked them to come and conduct an interim
inspection.

MR LEE: (Chinese spoken)?

CHAIRMAN: Mr Lee, "no" is the answer. According to Mr Kan,
there is no need for the WSD to monitor.

MR LEE: Although you insist on complying with the law that
it should be lead-free, but to your understanding, a lot
of people don't share your view. They use leaded
material. Can you say that?

A. Let me put it in a different way. In my understanding,
the majority of the people are law-abiding. You asked

me, after the lead incident, whether I was surprised or
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shocked. I was, because it's an inexpensive item.
I wonder why people would cut corners. So I call my
fellow tradesmen in the associations and institutes as

to why it would happen, because I was surprised.

CHAIRMAN: Perhaps you are already on a different level.

MR

Because if you are super-rich, compared to us, it's

a big difference. So it depends on how much money you
have. If you are a businessman, if you have a lot of
money, then things are different to you. You are saying
that there should be ethics. But when there is
financial pressure -- we have seen a lot of cases in the
High Court. We have seen cases of how people react to
pressure.

I was called down to luck in 2000. I had to support my
company's operations by selling my flat.

LEE: You had a flat to sell to begin with.

You said most people should be law-abiding. Should
be. But as a matter of fact, not many people are
law-abiding?

In my understanding, I thought most people were
law-abiding. From what I have heard, most of these
people thought they were law-abiding, because they were
using British-made solder.

All right. 1It's British made, it's BS; they thought it

would be okay.
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I have to check the sequence.

Plumbing subcontractor. Mr Kan, we know that lead
is found in drinking water. That is, the water up the
pipes and through the pipe, some lead is dissolved, and
then when you turn on the tap, the consumer would be
affected; you know that?

A. Yes.

Q. It has to do with workmanship; right? Is there
a difference, whether the workmanship is good or not?

A. Well, it was raised by the media. It was said that the
wrong solder was used, a lot of lead was released,
leading to contamination. First of all, they used
non-compliant material, so that more lead was leached or
dissolved. If the workmanship was good, then the
contact surface would not be big enough to cause the
problem. I told that to people from the radio and from
the papers.

Q. So, if the workmanship was good, not so much lead would
be released; correct?

CHAIRMAN: So it's important to hire the people with the
right skills? I heard you say on TV that you suspected
those workers had never been properly trained.

MR LEE: There's a body of opinion, if I may put it like
that, that this excess lead in water should mainly be

attributed to the fault of the licensed plumber. Do you
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agree?

A. The main responsibility rests with the licensed plumber,
I agree. Under the law, the licensed plumber is
authorised to carry out plumbing works. When he signs
the WWO46, he signifies his willingness to shoulder the
responsibility, to make sure that suitable materials are
used and that the installation would be carried out in
accordance with the WW Regulations.

Q. But as you said, people thought that using British-made
material would be good, or good enough. What about
50 per cent lead solder?

A. So there was no proper instruction given to the workers.

Q. So there's a lack of instruction or education. We know
that although it's British-made, 50 per cent lead solder
wire --

CHAIRMAN: We have heard from the media that there is leaded
solder manufactured in Germany. It's available all over
the world. According to Prosperity, there was leaded
solder from the mainland. Then came the British-made
ones.

MR LEE: So people thought that it's okay, because it's
British-made.

A. So that's why in my expert report I said we should
target public education. We should inform the public

what is the right thing to do. I employed fresh
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graduate engineers. I always tell them to type WSD, to
access the website of WSD, and then you can find the
relevant information on all the requirements, and then
they were able to acquire all the necessary skills after
working on the site.

Q. So you have to tell them that, "Don't think that it's
lead-free if it's British-made"?

A. I am not trying to teach them to distinguish materials
made in the UK or the mainland. I would tell them that
if you are to work in this trade, you should know the
basic requirements of waterworks installations, and also
whether there's any contradiction with the contractual
clauses, and if so you should draw the attention of the
owner, saying that your requirement is not in line with
the legal ones.

Q. But there's a misunderstanding, saying that the
British-made 50 per cent lead solder wire was okay, then
we have a problem?

A. For bigger sites and bigger contractors, the materials
will be supplied by the contractor to the workers. The
workers don't have to care about whether it is
British-made or it's 50 per cent lead or other solder.

When I was interviewed by the radio, some phone-in
callers criticised me. They were the contractors

working alone. They thought that buying the
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British-made ones, materials, would be okay, and some
learned the trade from a master, and there was no proper
regulation. So they would just buy materials that their
masters purchased all over the years.

Q. You entered the trade in 1973, and then in 2000 you knew
that lead-free solder should be used. When did you know
about the health hazards to the children if lead is
found in water?

A. I was surrounded by the people from the media on 8 July
in Wan Chai, and I insisted that if everything was done
in accordance with the Waterworks Regulations and the
materials were on the approved list, there shouldn't be
any hazard caused. Since so many people asked questions
about lead in water, so on that particular evening
I visited the WHO website. I typed "lead in water", and
I looked up the information on lead and the sources of
lead. Then I told, in subsequent interviews, that there
are 11 ways to be exposed to lead. It can be exposure
through breathing or petrol, exhaust fumes, and I also
referred to the US standards. That's after the
incident.

Q. You are such an experienced plumber, and yet you knew
about this so late?

A. Well, we didn't know about the details of the hazards of

certain metals, but as a licensed plumber, I always knew
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that I had to abide by the law and the contract.

Q. Although you have no clear idea about the possible
hazards?

A. Yes.

MR LEE: Thank you.

DR WONG: I don't have any questions.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Kan, thank you for coming to give evidence.

(The witness withdrew)

CHAIRMAN: Let's have a ten-minute break before we deal with
the next witness.

(4.10 pm)

(A short adjournment)

(4.26 pm)

CHAIRMAN: Mr Wong.

DR WONG: We are next call the deputy director of the WSD,
Wong Chung Leung.

MR WONG CHUNG LEUNG (affirmed)
Examination-in-chief by DR WONG

DR WONG: (In English) Mr Wong, you have filed three witness
statements for the purpose of this hearing.

CHAIRMAN: English or Chinese?

DR WONG: In Chinese. You have made three statements and
I will now read these statements. If you would like to
add or change anything, I would like you to tell me, but

I will read all three statements.
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(st witness statement read in English)
(Via interpreter) Please, I will now move on to the
next witness statement of yours.
"(In English) 2nd witness statement of Wong
Chung Leung".
(In English) I will skip the formal part.
Paragraph 3:
(2nd statement read in English)
(Via interpreter) Mr Wong, I am going to read out
your 3rd witness statement, starting from paragraph 2:
(3rd statement, paragraphs 2 to 34, read in English)
"(In English) Contamination".
"(In English) Soldering".
(In English) Chairman -- shall I finish the whole
thing?
CHAIRMAN: (In English) Yes.
DR WONG: (In English) Paragraph 35:
(Paragraphs 35 to 52 were read in English)
Mr Wong, I have read out three witness statements.
Can you confirm that the contents of the three
statements are true and correct?
A. Correct.
Q. Do you want to adopt the content of these three
statements as part of your evidence?

A. I am willing to.
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DR WONG: I don't have any supplementary questions to ask.
CHAIRMAN: We will adjourn until 11.00 on Monday.
(5.17 pm)

(The hearing adjourned until 11.00 am

on Monday, 22 February 2016)
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